
 
Published and dispatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on 13 January 2025. 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  

Hearing 
Review Panel  

 
 

 

Tuesday, 21 January 2025 at 10.00 am 
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Panel 
Members: 

 

Councillor Pam Byrd 
Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren 
Councillor Chris Noon 
Councillor Sarah Trotter 
 

Agenda 
 

1.   Introductions 
 

 

2.   Election of Chairman 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interests 
 

 

4.   To consider any requests for the exclusion of the Press and 
Public 
 

 

5.   Councillor Code of Conduct Hearing - Councillors Ben 
Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Woolley v Councillor Tim 
Harrison 
 

(Pages 3 - 134) 
 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
       

Hearing Review 
Panel 
Tuesday, 21 January 2025 
 
Report of Graham Watts, Monitoring 
Officer  
 

 

Councillor Code of Conduct Hearing 
 

Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and  

Sue Woolley v Councillor Tim Harrison 
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director (Governance and Public Protection) and Monitoring 
Officer  

 

 
graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This report provides the Hearing Review Panel with information relating to complaints by 

Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Wooley against Councillor Tim Harrison 

which are the subject of a Hearing, in accordance with the Council’s procedure for 

dealing with complaints against Councillors. 

 

Information within the report has been redacted because of the likelihood information that 

is exempt under paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended) will be disclosed and is considered not to have passed the public interest test. 

This is due to contents including personal information not relevant to the case under 

consideration or personal information relating to other third parties. The press and public 

may be excluded from the meeting should any of this redacted information be referenced 

or relied upon as part of proceedings.  

 

Recommendations 
 

That the Hearing Review Panel: 

 
1. Determines whether or not a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct 

has occurred. 
 

3

Agenda Item 5



2. Determines what sanctions to impose, if any, should a breach of the 
Councillor Code of Conduct have occurred. 
 

 

Decision Information 

Does the report contain any exempt or 
confidential information not for publication? 

Yes  

What are the relevant corporate priorities?  Effective council 

Which wards are impacted? Not applicable  
 

 

 

1.  Background to the Report 
 

1.1 The Council has a procedure in place for dealing with complaints against 

Councillors, which is included as part of the Council’s Constitution at Part 5 

(Codes and Protocols). 

 

1.2 Any complaint received by the Council regarding the conduct of its Councillors will 

be dealt with in accordance with this procedure.  
 

1.3 The complaints scheduled for consideration at this Hearing were submitted by 

Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Woolley against Councillor Tim 

Harrison. 
 

1.4 In accordance with the Council’s procedure, the complaints were referred for 

formal investigation.  
 

1.5 Wilkin Chapman LLP were appointed by the Monitoring Officer to conduct the 

formal investigation relating to these complaints.  

 

1.6 The Investigating Officer has found that Councillor Tim Harrison in breach of the 

Councillor Code of Conduct in terms of treating others with respect, bullying, and 

bringing his office and the Council into disrepute.  

 

1.7 The Monitoring Officer determined, in consultation with the Council’s Independent 

Persons, that this finding be referred to a Hearing and that this would be heard by 

a Hearing Review Panel.  
 

2. Key Considerations 
 

2.1 The final report from the Investigating Officer at Wilkin Chapman LLP is attached 

to this covering report for the Hearing Review Panel’s consideration at 

Appendix A. This is supported by a schedule of evidence document which is 

attached at Appendix B.  

4



2.2 As stated under the ‘purpose of report’ section of this covering report, there are a 

number of redactions in the Investigating Officer’s report and schedule of 

evidence. This is due to the fact that these do not relate to the specific matter that 

has been referred to the Hearing Review Panel or contain personal information 

relating to other third parties.  

 

2.3 In addition to the Investigating Officer’s report, the Hearing Review Panel is 

requested to give due consideration to further evidence attached at Appendix C 

regarding Councillor Harrison’s conduct, which has been brought to the attention 

of the Monitoring Officer since submission of the final Investigation Officer’s report. 

This relates to a post on social media during this investigation and other Code of 

Conduct complaint investigations currently ongoing, the details of which at the 

time were confidential.  

 

2.4. Written statements have been received from Councillors Ben Green and Sue 

Woolley, attached at Appendix D and Appendix E respectively, for consideration 

at the Hearing in addition to the information contained within the Investigating 

Officer’s report and schedule of evidence.  

 

2.5 The procedure to be followed for this Hearing is outlined in the Council’s 

procedure for dealing with complaints against Councillors. This is set out in 

Appendix F of this report.  

 

3. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Investigating Officer’s report   

Appendix B – Schedule of evidence  

Appendix C – Additional evidence from the Monitoring Officer 

Appendix D – Statement – Councillor Ben Green 

Appendix E – Statement – Councillor Sue Woolley 

Appendix F – Procedure for Hearing  

 

 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



V1 
Page 1 of 43 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Report of an investigation by Wilkin Chapman LLP, appointed by the Monitoring Officer for 
South Kesteven District Council, into allegations concerning Councillor Tim Harrison. 
 
 
Dated: 12 November 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
VOLUME 1 
REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Cartergate House 
26 Chantry Lane 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 
a limited liability partnership registered in England no. OC343261, 

authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority

7

Appendix A



V1 
Page 2 of 43 

 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank

8



V1 
Page 3 of 43 

 
Contents Page 
 
1. Executive Summary  4 
 
2. Councillor Harrison’s official details   5 
  
3. Relevant legislation and protocols   6 
 
4. Background and Evidence  9 
 
5. Councillor Green’s, Councillor Jeal’s Councillor Woolley’s and 
 Councillor Harrison’s additional submissions 18 
 
6. Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with 
 the Code of Conduct  22 
 
7. Finding 43 
 
 
 
Appendix A Schedule of evidence taken into account and list of unused material 
    

9



V1 
Page 4 of 43 

 
1. Executive Summary  
 
1.1 Councillor Harrison is a Grantham Independent member of South Kesteven District 

Council (the Council). He is part of the alliance of groups and independent members 
which has formed the Administration of the Council. 
 

1.2 Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Woolley are Conservative members of 
the Council. They are part of the South Kesteven Coalition, which is in opposition to 
the Administration. 
 

1.3 Councillor Green submitted a complaint on 2 March 2024. Councillor Green followed 
this up on 5 March 2024 with further information. 
 

1.4 Councillors Jeal and Woolley submitted separate complaints on 3 March 2024 
alleging that Councillor Harrison has breached the Nolan Principles. 
 

1.5 In August 2023, the Committee for Standards in Public Life (CSPL) responded to a 
Freedom of Information (FOI) request. The request asked for the process by which 
someone could raise a complaint that a government department or other public body 
had breached the Nolan Principles. 
 

1.6 In response to the FOI, the CSPL stated that they held no information in the scope of 
the request because: 
 

“the Seven Principles of Public Life are intended to be high level statements 
and there is no formal mechanism for holding people to account under those 
principles. The Principles are not a rulebook. They are a guide to institutional 
administration and personal conduct. It is organisations’ codes of conduct 
against which complaints may be made so if you wish to hold an individual to 
account or make a complaint about an individual’s behaviour, this would be 
done against the relevant organisation’s code of conduct.”  
 

1.7 None of the complaints specify which parts of the Council’s Code of Conduct it is 
alleged that Councillor Harrison has breached. However, following the Monitoring 
Officer’s assessment in his Decision Notice, we have considered the issues of 
paragraphs 1 (Respect), 2 (Bullying and Harassment) and 5 (Disrepute). 
 

1.8 Following investigation, we have concluded that Councillor Harrison: 
 
(a) failed to treat Councillor Green with respect; 

 
(b) did bully Councillor Green; 
 
(c) did not harass Councillor Green; 
 
(d) brought his office and the Council into disrepute. 

10



V1 
Page 5 of 43 

 
2. Councillor Harrison’s official details 
 
2.1 Councillor Harrison was first elected to the Council on 9 May 2023. He is a Grantham 

Independent member representing St Wulfram’s ward. 
 
2.2 At the time of alleged conduct, Councillor Harrison sat on the following committees: 
 

• Budget – Joint Overview and Scrutiny; 

• Community Governance Review Working Group; 

• Community Governance Review Working Group – Little Ponton and Sproxton; 

• Finance and Economic Overview and Scrutiny; 

• Governance and Audit (Chairman); 

• Joint Meeting of the Finance & Economic & Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; 

• Joint Meeting of the Finance and Economic and Culture and Leisure Overview 
and Scrutiny; 

• Planning; and 

• UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural England Prosperity Fund Board. 
 
2.3 Councillor Harrison attended Code of Conduct training on 11 May 2023 as part of the 

Induction Programme. He also attended Code of Conduct training on 24 July 2024. In 
2024, he has also completed the following training: 

 
• 17/06/2024 – Equalities, Diversity & Inclusion; 
• 17/06/2024 – Local Government Finance Explained; 
• 13/06/2024 – Governance & Audit Committee Annual Refresh; 
• 10/06/2024 – Planning Committee Annual Refresh Training; 
• 10/06/2024 – Safeguarding. 

11



V1 
Page 6 of 43 

 
3. Relevant legislation and protocols 
 
3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) provides that a relevant authority must 

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members 
of the authority. In discharging this duty, the authority must adopt a code dealing with 
the conduct that is expected of members when they are acting in that capacity. 

 
3.2 Under section 28(6) of the Act, principal authorities (which includes district councils) 

must have in place (a) arrangements under which allegations can be investigated; 
and (b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made. 

 
3.3 Under section 28(7), arrangements put in place under section 28(6)(b) must include 

provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one Independent Person 
(“IP”) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it 
makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate. 

 
3.4 Section 28(11) of the Act provides that if a relevant authority finds that a member or a 

co-opted member of the authority has failed to comply with its code of conduct it may 
have regard to the failure in deciding (a) whether to take action in relation to the 
member or co-opted member and (b) what action to take.   

 
3.5 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct (“the Code of Conduct”) (attached at 

WC 1) which includes the following:  
 

“General Conduct  
 
1.  Respect 
 
As a Councillor: 
 
1.1 I treat other Councillors and members of the public with respect. 
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives 
of partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority 
with respect and respect the role they play. 
 
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech and in the 
written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a heathy 
democracy. As a Councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and 
disagree with views, ideas and opinions and policies in a robust but civil 
manner.  
 
You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or 
organisations to personal attack. 
 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. 
Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence 
in Councillors. 
 
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If 
members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are 
entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in person or online and report 
them to the local authority, the relevant social media provider, or the Police. 
This also applies to fellow Councillors, where action could then be taken under 
the Members’ Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, where 

12



V1 
Page 7 of 43 

concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s councillor officer 
protocol.  
 
2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 
As a councillor: 
 
7.1 I do not bully any person. 
 
7.2 I do not harass any person. 
 
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises 
bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse 
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate, or 
injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-
off incident, happen face-to-face on social media, in emails or phone calls, 
happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be 
obvious or noticed by others. 
 
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve 
such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to 
impose unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner 
that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 
 
5.  Disrepute 
 
As a Councillor: 
 
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.  
 
As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 
community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than 
that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your actions 
might have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local 
authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local 
authority’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For example, behaviour that 
is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into 
disrepute. 
 
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and 
are able to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and 
processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other 
aspects of this Code of Conduct.” 

 
3.6 We have also considered other relevant legislation as follows: 
 
Freedom of Expression and Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights 1998 
 
3.7 Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (Article 10 ECHR) states: 
 

• “Art 10(1) “Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right 
shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart 
information and ideas without interference by a public authority…” 

 

13



V1 
Page 8 of 43 

• “Art 10(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties 
and responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, 
restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and necessary in a 
democratic society…” 

 
3.8 Article 10 ECHR has been enshrined in UK domestic law by Section 1 of the Human 

Rights Act 1998 (HRA 1998) and Section 3 of the HRA 1988 states that the Act must 
be interpreted as far as possible so that it is in line with Article 10 ECHR. 

   
 

14



V1 
Page 9 of 43 

 
4. Evidence and facts 
 
Our appointment 
 
4.1 The Council’s arrangements for dealing with code of conduct complaints provide that 

Monitoring Officer (“MO”), in consultation with the appointed Independent Person (IP), 
shall decide whether or not to investigate a complaint. 

 
4.2 Councillor Green submitted a complaint on 2 March 2024 (attached at WC 2), 

following up with further information on 5 March 2024 (within WC 2).  
 

4.3 Councillor Jeal submitted a complaint on 3 March 2024 (attached at WC 3).  
 

4.4 Councillor Woolley also submitted a complaint on 3 March 2024 (attached at WC 4).  
 

4.5 Councillor Jeal and Councillor Woolley’s complaints cover some of the same issues 
as set out in Councillor Green’s complaint. Having consulted with two IPs, the MO 
issued his Decision Notice on all three complaints (attached at WC 5) on 21 March 
2024. 
 

4.6 On 28 May 2024, the MO instructed Wilkin Chapman LLP to conduct an investigation 
into the complaints.  
 

4.7 Wilkin Chapman LLP is a solicitors’ firm based in Lincolnshire and East Yorkshire with 
a national local government legal practice. Work in relation to this investigation was 
undertaken by Estelle Culligan, Gill Thompson and Emily Briggs.   

 
The investigation 
 
4.8 During the investigation we undertook formal interviews with: 
 

• Councillor Ben Green – complainant; 
 

• Councillor Graham Jeal – complainant; 
 

• Councillor Sue Woolley – complainant; and  
 

• Councillor Tim Harrison – subject member. 
 

4.9 We obtained signed statements from Councillor Green (attached at WC 6), Councillor 
Jeal (attached at WC 7) and Councillor Woolley (attached at WC 8). 
 

4.10 A transcript was prepared from our interview with Councillor Harrison (attached at 
WC 9).  
 

4.11 The transcript was sent to Councillor Harrison for approval on 22 July 2024. As we 
had not received a response from Councillor Harrison, we re-sent our email on 6 
August 2024 asking if he could confirm approval of the transcript as soon as possible. 
In an email of 6 August 2024 Councillor Harrison told us: 
 

“I have only had time for a cursory glance over all this, I am too busy. It all 
seems in order I am confident that you will have transcripted accurately. If 
there is any issue in the future we can always return to the video.” 

15



V1 
Page 10 of 43 

 
4.12 On the same day, we replied to Councillor Harrison to say: 

 
“Thank you for your email. I appreciate you are very busy but we would like 
you to sign the transcript. I will send it to you via Docusign (which enables 
electronic signature and return) so if you could give it a read through that 
would be very much appreciated.” 

 
4.13 On 19 August 2024 Councillor Harrison emailed as follows: 

 
“I cannot sign this, I haven’t had a copy of the video to compare it, plus I really 
do not have the time to spend going through it. As you are aware I do not get 
paid for this time and consider it a waste of my valuable time, where I can 
actually be achieving something for the constituents.” 

  
4.14 We sent the video recording of our interview with Councillor Harrison to him on 20 

September 2024 via Docusign. Councillor Harrison replied to say: 
 

“Your conditions are not acceptable to me. I am sorry.” 
 
4.15 It should therefore be noted that whilst we have relied on the interview transcript, this 

has not been approved by Councillor Harrison. Copies of the email correspondence 
referred to in paragraphs 4.11 – 4.14 are attached at WC 10. 
 

4.16 Copies of the above, together with other relevant documents are annexed to this 
report. 
 

4.17 We wish to record our thanks for the co-operation and courtesy shown to us by all 
those whom we contacted during the investigation. 
 

Factual Background 
 
4.18 Councillor Green is a Conservative member of the Council representing Isaac Newton 

ward. 
 

4.19 Councillor Jeal is a Conservative member of the Council and Leader of the 
Conservative Group. He represents St Vincents ward. 

 
4.20 Councillor Woolley is a Conservative member of the Council representing Morton 

ward. 
 

4.21 The complainants are part of the South Kesteven Coalition Group which forms the 
main opposition group to the governing alliance of groups and independent members 
which forms the Administration. 
 

4.22 Councillor Harrison is a Grantham Independent member of the Council representing 
St Wulfram’s ward. Councillor Harrison is a member of the Administration. 

 
Councillor Green’s complaint 
 
4.23 Councillor Green’s complaint states:.  

 
“It is with regret that I must bring to your attention behaviour, which I believe 
conclusively demonstrates harassment, exhibited by Councillor Tim Harrison 
on social media. 

16



V1 
Page 11 of 43 

 
Over the course of approximately one to two hours on 9 February, Cllr 
Harrison extensively combed my Facebook profile and proceeded to share 
multiple posts, accompanied with vitriolic attacks, to his own feed. To 
exacerbate matters, he went so far as to edit a video still of me, incorporating 
his own commentary. 
 
More gravely, today, 2 March, Cllr Harrison incited local animal rights 
campaigners to bombard my email address and displayed mobile phone 
number because of my party affiliation. This is personal, disturbing and, to my 
mind, a wholly unacceptable breach of the Code of Conduct and Nolan 
Principles. I am minded to also log this incident with the Police. 
 
Taken together, I regard this body of evidence as a torrent of highly-
personalised, intimidating and aggressive online behaviour that has 
significantly degraded the discourse. It also has strong potential to affect my 
wellbeing, mental and physical. I would appreciate your confirmation these 
incidents will inform an investigation into whether Councillor Harrison has, 
indeed, breached our Code of Conduct.” 

 
4.24 Councillor Green followed this up on 5 March by stating: 

 
“Further, it is important to note that, beyond the initial complaint, Cllr 
Harrison’s incitement contributed to a death threat against me which was 
countered with a Fixed Penalty Notice. I reproduce that below. He also shared 
the link to the anti-cull post after being told it was offensive by the Police. He 
has admitted no responsibility nor contrition, which is distressing. 
 
At least two Parish Council meetings have been cancelled in my ward due to 
the specific threat which Cllr Harrison has promoted.” 

 
4.25 On 4 February 2024 Councillor Green posted onto his councillor Facebook page a 

video, the still in the post shows him standing on a bridge over the A1, and stated: 
 

“      A1 littering is a disgrace, but it’s SKDC’s job to clean it up! Help out by 

sharing grot spots at ben.green@southkesteven.gov.uk.      
 
The Rainbow Alliance of Independents, Labour, and others, is finally taking 
action after outright litter denial and my lobbying! 
 
#StopLittering #A1Cleanup” 

 
4.26 The video is a very short clip of Councillor Green asking for residents to report “grot 

spots” on the A1 and referring to a “U-Turn” in the Administration’s policy. This is a 
reference to the Council voting through an amendment to its budget at its meeting on 
29 February 2024, proposed by Councillor Green, to create a £60,000 reserve for 
cleaning of the A1. The video is at the following link:  https://fb.watch/uodjZJ-tGw/ 
 

4.27 Councillor Harrison commented on Councillor Green’s post of 4 February 2024 with a 
video still of Councillor Green, adding a speech bubble stating: 
 

“Please ignore the two completely clean laybys right behind me!” 
 

17

mailto:ben.green@southkesteven.gov.uk
https://fb.watch/uodjZJ-tGw/


V1 
Page 12 of 43 

4.28 Councillor Green’s post, along with Councillor Harrison’s caption, is attached at page 
17 of the Schedule of Evidence. 
 

4.29 On 9 February 2024, Councillor Harrison shared Councillor Green’s 4 February 2024 
post to his own Councillor Facebook page and stated: 
 

“There is no u-turn on the A1. This man originally wanted to send out 
volunteers in groups of three with an air horn to clean the A1. He had no idea 
of how to fund it claiming that was how Newark & Sherwood had done it. A 
quick google search showed that they had in fact contracted Amey, the 
professionals. He actually wanted to risk volunteers lives. His recklessness 
knows no bounds, for an election photo opportunity he stood on the side of the 
A1 washing a sign down with no hi-viz. I have now had enough of this, I sent 
him a polite email a number of months ago asking him to stop the nonsense. 
He has chosen not to do so, now I will highlight it.” 

 
4.30 Councillor Harrison’s post is attached at page 18 of the Schedule of Evidence. 

 
4.31 On 9 February 2024 Councillor Harrison shared Councillor Green’s post of 11 July 

2023 which contained a video and the words: 
 

“The problem of A1 littering is more significant than we realise. It’s not just 
about cleanliness; it’s about how our District is perceived by the world. 
 
Every day, 50,000 vehicles pass along the A1 in South Kesteven, amounting 
to a staggering 18 million annually. The cleanliness along this stretch of road 
leaves a lasting impression on motorists. Sadly, we’ve witnessed a decline in 
the quality of this cleanliness, which discourages people from stopping here or 
investing in our area. Enough is enough, especially for the residents of Isaac 
Newton Ward. 
 
If we fail to take action now, we risk facing Litter Abatement Orders under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, triggered by concerned members of the 
public that will force the Council to act. The longer we wait, the more the 
problem will escalate, and the costs will soar.” 
 

4.32 The video is of an unknown Council meeting, in which Councillor Green is discussing 
the issue of littering on the A1. A copy of the video is at the following link: 
https://fb.watch/uoddQ2D5Rr/. During the video, Councillor Green states, “…I want to 
demolish this Jenga tower of myth that’s been constructed around the issue of A1 
littering…” He then talks about having spoken to officers at Newark and Sherwood 
Council who explained that they had cleaned large parts of the A1 in teams of three, 
using two people to litter pick and a third with an air horn to warn of danger. He 
explains that there was a 1.5 metre exclusion zone for the workers, that there was 
some “hesitancy from the council cleaning workers but nevertheless they were 
strongly encouraged to do so…” 
 

4.33 Councillor Harrison’s post of 9 February 2024 is attached at page 19 of the Schedule 
of Evidence. It states 
 

“The litter myths 
Jenga Tower of Myth?? Yes he actually said that. Here is his claim that they 
did it with groups of three and an air horn. So please Cllr Green, tell me who at 
Newark said they did this ?” 

 

18

https://fb.watch/uoddQ2D5Rr/


V1 
Page 13 of 43 

4.34 On 9 February 2024, Councillor Harrison posted onto his own Facebook page a post 
from Councillor Green’s Facebook page, which contained a news article by Councillor 
Green. Councillor Harrison stated: 
 

“Here is Cllr Green yet again with the childish rainbow alliance jibe moaning 
about the cost of green bins going up less than the cost of inflation and less 
than the £5 that the tories previously put it up. A green bin for a year gives you 
roughly a 12 yard slip of green waste. Which would cost you in the region of 
£260 and you would have a skip on your drive for a year. I would hazard a 
guess that the green bin going up affects more Tory voters lives than it does 
the average resident of South Kesteven. Also if Cllr Green comes out from 
behind his faux horror, maybe he would prefer to compost and save the green 
bin charge altogether.[questioning emoji]”  

 
4.35 Councillor Harrison’s post is attached at page 20 of the Schedule of Evidence. 

Councillor Green’s original social media post contains a picture of a written piece in 
what we assume to be the Grantham Journal with the heading: 

 
“The SKDC Rainbow Alliance of Independents, Labour, and even Greens, is 
hitting us with higher charges for our green bins. We pushed for a freeze on 
the collection charge, but unfortunately, they voted against it not once, but 
twice.” 

 
4.36 The news article states: 

 
“TAXES 
We championed freezing green waste bin charge 
As you may have noticed, taxes are once again on the rise in South Kesteven. 
It’s crucial to grasp why and identify the culprits. My colleagues and I in the 
South Kesteven Coalition twice championed freezing the green waste bin 
collection charge. Frankly, it’s high time to give users of this service a respite 
– to knock this stealth tax on the head. We suggested covering the revenue 
shortfall from trimming catering costs, reducing conference expenses, and 
reining in consultancy fees. While we lavishly allocate thousands to each, 
consultancy fees are the grand-daddy, nearly hitting £400,000 of your money 
from May to November last year. The proposal was sensible, measured stuff, 
but twice the ruling Rainbow Alliance, encompassing Labour, Independents, 
and even Greens, tossed the idea aside. Threw it in the bin (maybe they’ll get 
one of those petty bin tags?) Coun Paul Fellows (Ind, Bourne) declared he 
was content to ‘have the life taxed out of him’, suggesting that if residents 
disliked the green bin stealth tax, they could cancel the service. Pushing 
anyone to cancel this cherished service risks a surge in fly-tipping of green 
waste. Increasingly, the un-whipped Grantham Independents seem to be 
moving in a united front against the taxpayer, exhibiting remarkable discipline 
and an absence of independent thought. They rally behind Coun Ashley 
Baxter’s (Ind – Deepings) hard left administration, not one of them daring to 
break ranks. Keep this in mind when the bills arrive. 

 
4.37 On 9 February 2024 Councillor Harrison shared to his own Facebook page a post by 

Councillor Green of 16 January. Councillor Green’s post contained a video of a 
Council meeting and stated: 
 

“         Budget Alert: Fighting the Green Bin Stealth Tax         
 
Hey everyone, 

19



V1 
Page 14 of 43 

 
As we gear up for the 2024-25 Budget, I couldn’t help but notice the need for 
South Kesteven District Council to share in our community’s challenges. The 
Council should tighten its belt too, trimming catering costs, scaling back on 
conferences, and re-evaluating consultancy fees. The goal? Putting a stop to 
unnecessary tax increases. 
 
Take, for instance, the ruling Rainbow Alliance’s proposal for a green bin 
stealth tax, hiking the collection charge to £51. It’s been climbing above 
inflation for too long, while other authorities are freezing theirs or charging 
less. It’s now time we reconsidered. 
 
I proposed a solution, freezing the collection charge, offset by savings, but 
unfortunately, the Rainbow Alliance (made up of Independents, Labour, and 
other parties) shot it down. One member even stated they’re okay with the 

District Council ‘taxing the life out of him;!         

 
What’s your take on this? I gave it my best shot, but I’d love to hear your 

thoughts!     Let’s discuss and make our community’s voice heard.      

 
#CommunityFirst #Budget2024 #SouthKesteven” 

 
4.38 The video can be seen at the following link: https://fb.watch/uodpdPs2Cj/. It is of 

Councillor Green talking about the upward rise of the fee for a green bin which, he 
states, has been “over the last 8 or 9 years.” He refers to it as a “stealth taxation” and 
calls for a freeze to the charge. 
 

4.39 When sharing the above post on 9 February 2024, Councillor Harrison stated: 
 

“It’s been marching up relentlessly over 8 or 9 years he says…..who was in 
charge then Cllr Green” 

 
4.40 Councillor Harrison’s post is attached at page 21 of the Schedule of Evidence. 

 
4.41 On 9 February 2024 Councillor Harrison posted to his Facebook page a news article 

by Councillor Green entitled “I will walk this path until veterans receive support” and 
stated: 
 

“Calling all my Verteran Friends. This is another of Cllr Green’s hair brained 
ideas. Truth be told Cllr Green initially wanted this for ALL VETERANS. He 
thought the term veteran meant active service. I was then told by my veteran 
friends that, in their words, “one of their breakfast meetings was hijacked by 
the tories offering them council tax relief”. They offered no explanation of 
where the money would come from or that it would most likely need an 
increase in everyone’s council tax. Meaning a single parent struggling to make 
ends meet could in theory be subsidising a brigadier living in a mansion. It was 
only after I pointed out his complete misunderstanding of pretty much 
everything, that he decided to swap it to employed veterans in band A 
properties. For clarification a veteran is anyone who signed on for service, 
even if they lasted only a day. These ridiculous attempts by Cllr Green to 
coerce ill will to the current administration are laughable. I would appreciate 
yet again veterans opinions” 

 

20

https://fb.watch/uodpdPs2Cj/


V1 
Page 15 of 43 

4.42 Councillor Harrison’s post is attached at page 22 of the Schedule of Evidence. The 
post contains a screen shot of a letter from Councillor Green to a local newspaper in 
which he calls for 5 – 10% council tax relief for employed veterans in band A 
properties.  

 
4.43 On 2 March 2024 Councillor Harrison shared a social media post by ‘Lincolnshire 

Against the Cull’. It contained a large image of Councillor Green alongside an image 
of his ward which had the caption “ALL BADGERS ARE TO BE KILLED HERE” 
written across it. The text of the post stated: 

 
“Lincolnshire Against the Cull 
 
This is Cllr Ben Green from the Conservative Party at South Kesteven District 
Council, he is the Cllr for the Isaac Newton Ward which sits to the south of 
Grantham. 
Cllr Greens entire ward sits within the badger cull zone, this zone is on an 
eradication zone, ALL badgers are to be killed, needlessly. 
Like most in his party, Cllr Green is a hypocrite when it comes to wildlife, he 
feels the wildlife of his ward is fair game (no pun intended) to be used in 
political arguments. We take particular offence at his pretending to care about 
badgers, when his entire ward is in the current Lincolnshire cull zone and he 
takes no interest. Cllr Green has been totally silent and none engaging when 
it comes to the badger cull in Lincolnshire and indeed his ward, he has said 
literally NOTHING. 
 
In 2013 the cull was brought into existence, since then, 243,000 badgers have 
been slaughtered across England, people like Cllr green are guilty by 
association of this slaughter. Cllr Ben Green has remained very very quiet on 
this topic so we thought he should have his 5 minutes of fame. His contact 
details are below: 
 
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx... 
 
We think Cllr Green is a disgrace and should apologise in using the deaths of 
animals in his ward as political pawn. 
 
https://www.facebook.com/councillorben/”  

 
4.44 There were a number of comments made by others to the post, one of which is by a 

who states: 
 

“What is the chance of culling this waste of space. I’m sure nobody would 
notice him missing from his ward.” 

 
4.45 The post is at page 24 of the Schedule of Evidence. The above comment on the post 

is at page 27 of the Schedule of Evidence. 
 
Councillor Jeal’s complaint 
 
4.46 Councillor Jeal’s complaint states: 

 
“I would like to place a code of conduct complaint against cllr Tim Harrison for 
the attached social media post. 
 

21

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx
https://www.facebook.com/councillorben/
Gill.Thompson
Typewritten text
member of public



V1 
Page 16 of 43 

In accepting the role of councillor we all agree to follow the South Kesteven 
District Council Code of Conduct which incorporates the Nolan Principles. I 
believe that this post is in breach of all 7 of the 7 Nolan principles. Namely: 
 

• Selflessness: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the 
public interest. 

This social media post is a clear incitement of hatred against a fellow 
councillor and an invitation for animal rights extremists to target a specific 
councillor. This Is not in the public interest. 

• Integrity: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under 
any obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately 
to influence them in their work. They should not at or take decisions in 
order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 
and relationships. 

It is not clear whether cllr Harrison or members of his group have relationships 
to the given animal rights group. My understanding is that there is at least one 
member of his group that is a member of the group he is promoting here in his 
attempt to get the general public to attack a member of the council. 

• Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions 
impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without 
discrimination or bias. 

IT is totally false to claim to make a public claim about cllr Green who has not 
made any position public on this matter – it is a deliberate slur on a councillor 
without any objective evidence. By placing a picture of cllr green and 
combining it with an annotated picture of his ward suggesting that the opinion 
that badgers will be “killed here” has no evidence and is deliberately 
misleading. 

• Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable to the public 
for their decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the 
scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

In supplying this false information in the public domain and then inviting 
member of the public to comment, cllr Harrison acted without accountability 
and recklessly bringing the authority into disrepute. As you know I made you 
aware that a death threat had been made towards cllr Green on the Saturday 
evening and I was encouraged to call the police. The police took this 
extremely seriously and issued a Fixed Penalty Notice to the person who 
placed the threat which was promoted by cllr Harrison. Cllr Harrison even after 
learning that a fixed penalty notice had been issued failed to withdraw the 
totally false and deliberately provocative post. 

• Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an 
open and transparent matter. Information should not be withheld from 
the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

By posting false information without and evidence or discussion, cllr Harrison 
failed to act in a transparent manner. Indeed by doing this he behaved in a 
deceitful manner. 

• Honesty: Holders of public office should be truthful. 
The post and its inference that cllr Green has an opinion on the post is totally 
factually incorrect and dishonest. 

• Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in 
their own behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly 
support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour 
wherever it occurs. 

22



V1 
Page 17 of 43 

Cllr Harrison holds a leadership position within the council as chair of a 
committee. He brings himself and the council into disrepute with this post, it is 
a clear and dangerous slur against a fellow council member, a direct attempt 
to intimidate another member from telling the truth about the failures of the 
administration and a failure to promote and uphold the highest possible 
standards in public life. This is corroborated by the ongoing police 
investigation and the requirement for the police to issue a fixed penalty notice 
against at least one of the comments below the post that cllr Harrison 
promoted. 
 
I know you will attend this this urgently, I reserve the right to present a copy of 
this complaint to the press – but I am sure that you will understand that I 
consider this behaviour unbecoming of a councillor and should be attended to 
immediately.” 
 

4.47 The social media post which is the subject of Councillor Jeal’s complaint is that 
referred to at paragraph 4.43 above and can be seen on page 24 of the Schedule of 
Evidence. 

 
4.48 The death threat referred to is that set out in paragraph 4.44 above and can be seen 

on page 27 of the Schedule of Evidence. 
 

4.49 This matter was referred by the MO for investigation. 
 
Councillor Woolley’s complaint 
 
4.50 On 3 March 2024 Councillor Woolley submitted her complaint. She stated: 

 
“Dear Graham, over the weekend Cllr Tim Harrison has conducted a quite 
concentrated and vitriolic campaign against Cllr Ben Green, on social media. 
I was particularly disturbed to see a death threat made towards Cllr Green by 
a  on Cllr Harrisons FB account, which Cllr Harrison made 
not attempt to remove. I do not propose to list further examples, there are 
many and these can be forwarded if requested. 
I am most concerned that as a prominent chairman of one of the Council 
committees (Governance & Audit) Cllr Harrison appears not to be holding up 
the good name of the council.” 

 
4.51 The relevant social media post is that referred to at paragraph 4. 43 above and can 

be seen on page 24 of the Schedule of Evidence. 
 

4.52 The death threat referred to is that set out in paragraph 4.44 above and can be seen 
on page 27 of the Schedule of Evidence. 
 

4.53 This matter was referred by the MO for investigation. 

23

Gill.Thompson_1
Typewritten text
member of public



V1 
Page 18 of 43 

 
5. Councillor Green’s, Councillor Jeal’s, Councillor Woolley’s and Councillor 

Harrison’s additional submissions 
 
Councillor Green 
 
5.1 No comments were received from Councillor Green on the draft version of this report. 

 
Councillor Jeal 
 
5.2 The following comments were received from Councillor Jeal, on 1 October 2024, on 

the draft version of this report: 
 
“A very comprehensive report – thanks for your work on this. Comments below: 
 
Page 16 – my comment about the press I subsequently removed and explained from 
the complaint. This paragraph was added to the complaint because I am aware of 
complaints in previous years that were successfully gagged or remained confidential. 
I obviously have no idea as to the nature of those complaints because they were 
prosecuted in absolute secrecy. This sentence was written because I believe that the 
nature of this complaint means that it is in the public interest and should not be 
considered top secret as long as it is managed according to the revised complaints 
procedure. I subsequently received assurances from the monitoring officer that this 
complaint would be treated according to the revised complaints procedure and that 
this was totally different to the complaint from previous years that was managed, 
investigated and resolved in absolute secrecy. Therefore this line is unrelated to this 
complaint: 
“…..I reserve the right to present a copy of this complaint to the press – but I am sure 
that you will understand that I consider this behaviour unbecoming of a councillor and 
should be attended to immediately.” 
Page 18 – I assume that this is blank intentionally 
Page 30 – 6.74. Councillor Jeal requested that a reference to a specific incident 
should be redacted. He said, I think that the essence of the statement is retained with 
the previous sentence talking about animal rights extremism in general, but I am 
uncomfortable referring to a specific criminal incident in such a public document.  
“[REDACTED]” 
Whilst this is referenced in 6.80 – I think that this can remain as it is less specific” 
 

Response 
 
5.3 Page 16 - We note and thank Councillor Jeal for his explanation of this sentence in 

his complaint. 
 

5.4 Page 18 – this page is blank in the draft report as no comments have been received 
at the point of issuing the draft report to the parties. All comments received are 
contained within the final report and responses provided. 
 

5.5 Page 30 – 6.74 – this paragraph has now been amended. We have also amended 
this paragraph to reflect some minor changes which Councillor Jeal had previously 
made to his statement (finalised as version 2), which had not been updated in the 
draft report. His statement within the Schedule of Evidence has also been updated to 
version 2 and suitably redacted.  

 

24



V1 
Page 19 of 43 

Councillor Woolley 
 
5.6 No comments were received from Councillor Woolley on the draft version of this 

report. 
 
Councillor Harrison 

 
5.7 The following comments were received from Councillor Harrison, on 20 October 

2024, on the draft version of this report. For ease of reference, we have commented 
on each point underneath the relevant paragraph: 
 

“Firstly, assumptions are made that I saw the post before the Police rang me 
about it. This is incorrect. Having not seen it, how could I have removed it. 
Secondly when the police contacted me, they informed me that they had got 

 to remove the post, therefore I could not remove it. Any claims 
that I would not remove it were made after the fact that it had already been 
removed. You are confusing my statement to not remove MY post with 
removing .” 

 
Response 
 
We have reviewed again that Councillor Harrison told us in interview, as recorded in 
the transcript. He said: 

 
“…the Police not only call at my house they call at my office at work, they then 
…ring me to chase this up within hours, so the irony is where a burglary 
somebody can’t come out for 6 weeks, but a hurty Facebook post they’re out 
within 3 hours, so, I then said to the Policeman, I said why are you ringing 
me?  He said well … somebody’s put this comment on your post, I said yeah, 
why are you ringing me?  So he said, well, will you remove this post so I said 
no.” 

 
Response 
 
We have quoted these comments in our reasoning below. We are referring to the 
Police’s request for Councillor Harrison to remove his actual post, i.e. his sharing of 
the post by the group “Lincolnshire against the Cull”, not  comment. 
It is clear that the Police were referring to the actual post, otherwise why would they 
ask him to remove it? We have reviewed our comments below and believe this is 
quite clear. We have nothing further to add on this point.  

 
“You go on to state that my comment was comparing culling badgers with 
culling BBC staff, this is also grossly wrong, my comparison was with  

 comment about culling and the BBC's. Highlighting, that not all 
references to culling mean to kill. Please correct this error.”  

 
Response 
 
We have reviewed our comments on this point below. We make very clear that the 
reference to the word “cull” in the sense of the BBC is figurative, meaning to make 
staff redundant and the reference to “cull” in respect of badgers, is literal, meaning to 
kill them. comment about Councillor Green was directly linked to the 
badger culling post, therefore the inference is clear. 

 
 

25

Gill.Thompson_2
Typewritten text
member of public

Gill.Thompson_3
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_4
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_5
Typewritten text
member

Gill.Thompson_6
Typewritten text
of public's

Gill.Thompson_7
Typewritten text
Member of public's



V1 
Page 20 of 43 

“Ref 6.64. Time has born this statement by me to be correct. There was no 
danger, and very little interaction on the post. Even the dreaded facebook 
police did not choose to take the post down.”  

 
Response 
 
That may be the case, but at the time, Councillor Green felt threatened by the post, 
as evidenced by his statement and Councillor Jeal’s statement. 

 
“Ref 6.71. You make another mistake that my post attracted Police action. No 
it did not. That is a fact. It was post that attracted police 
attention. When they asked me to remove MY post I asked if it was an illegal 
post and was told no. To equate my post with an incitement to racial hatred is 
quite frankly very disturbing.” 

 
Response 
 
It may have been comment on Councillor Harrison’s post which 
caused the Police to contact Councillor Harrison to ask him to take the post down, but 
the Police clearly felt it was serious enough to contact Councillor Harrison as 
originator of the post. Councillor Harrison is using the word “post” both in relation to 
his sharing of the original post and in relation to  comment. This is 
confusing. We are clear that we are discussing Councillor Harrison’s post and  

comment on that post. 
 

“6.76. The statement that my post was false is in itself false. Was there not a 
total cull panned?”  

 
Response 
 
The accusation of the post being “false” is a direct quote from Councillor Jeal. 

 
“6.111 In all the time since this complaint was made can you please inform me 
how many complaints were actually made from members of the public who 
knew all the relevant facts? Making assumptions doesn't actually work. Could 
you also please tell me which, of my actions, specifically, impacted on the 
council's ability to carry out its functions and which functions these were. 
Please do not confuse my actions with the actions of others on social media. 
For the avoidance of doubt, I again ask that please show me what I, 
specifically me, put to scare Cllr Green. What threat, what bullying tactic was 
used? What complaint was received about it from anyone other than the 
Conservative Party who also made a plethora of other complaints against me. 
Ones which are vexatious. At any time did you consider the number of 
complaints made against me and what weight did you give to that. If Cllr 
Green felt so threatened and scared of me why did he not exercise his ability 
to block me on social media. If you actually look at the true facts, you will see 
that Cllr Green's actions were inciting and continue to be so.” 

 
Response 
 
We have explained the definition of “disrepute” below and the reasons for our 
findings. We have explained that the test is an objective assessment. 

  

26

Gill.Thompson_8
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_9
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_10
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_11
Typewritten text
member

Gill.Thompson_12
Typewritten text
of public's



V1 
Page 21 of 43 

“Please clarify, is it the decision of you as investigators, that any post that 
attracts detrimental interaction should be removed ad hoc? Regardless of 
whether the detrimental interaction has been removed?  
Please be clear on this, are you demanding that ANY post any councillor puts 
up that gets a negative or detrimental comment must be removed or is it just 
mine? My post was not illegal, and was highlighting an issue in a ward. Are 
you in fact saying that I cannot report on such things? Please be abundantly 
clear on this. 

 
 

6.113 It appears here that is exactly what you are saying. That if someone 
posts detrimental comments on any of MY posts that I should remove MY 
posts. Thereby effectively silencing anything I can put. Is that correct? If not, 
can you please explain which behaviour was expected of me. I ask again, why 
did Cllr Green not block me on social media? That would have removed any 
link to him.” 

 
Response 
 
We have undertaken our investigation based on the facts of this case. We cannot 
comment  generally on other hypothetical posts/comments on social media. 

 
“In all, this has been a concerted attack of vexatious complaints. None hold 
water. No weight was given to the nature of the vexation addressed towards 
me, no weight was given to the fact that any or all Councillors concerned can 
block me on social media but choose not to. No weight was given to the fact 
that the actual complaints are false, . 
Any claims of fear, bullying or threatening behaviour would, by any reasonable 
person's opinion, have resulted in such an action. I also highlight yet again the 
double standards that appear to be applied against myself and the 
complainants. I would therefore  suggest that all these cases are dismissed.” 

 
Response 
 
We have investigated this complaint thoroughly and have set out our findings and our 
reasoning in this report. It is for the Monitoring Officer to decide how to deal with the 
final report. That may be by referral to a Standards Hearing. In that case, it will be for 
the Standards Hearing panel to make the final decision as to whether they agree with 
our findings and whether there have been breaches. 

 

27



V1 
Page 22 of 43 

6. Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with the Code of 
Conduct 

 
6.1 The relevant sections of the Code and of the relevant protocols which fall to be 

considered are set out in Section 4 above.  
 

Capacity  
 

6.2 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Authority to adopt a Code of 
Conduct dealing with the conduct that is expected of members of the Council “when 
they are acting in that capacity”.  
 

6.3 The Council’s Code of Conduct reflects the requirement of Section 27(2) of the 
Localism Act.  
 

6.4 The Council’s Code is expressed to apply whenever a member is acting in their 
capacity as a Councillor. We therefore first have to consider whether Councillor 
Cunnington was acting in an official capacity at the time of the alleged incidents. 
 

6.5 The Local Government Association Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct (“the 
LGA Guidance”) states that: 

 
“The Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as 
a councillor which may include when:  
 

• You misuse your position as a councillor 

• Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the 
public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a 
councillor. 
 

This means it applies when you are carrying out your official duties, for 
example when you are considering or discussing local authority business, 
either as a councillor or representing the local authority on an outside body. 
 
… 
 
The code does not, therefore, apply solely when you are in local authority 
meetings or on local authority premises. 
 
The code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 
 

• At face-to-face meetings 

• At online or telephone meetings 

• In written communication 

• In verbal communication 

• In non-verbal communications 

• In electronic and social media communication, posts, statements, and 
comments. 

 
The includes interactions with the public as well as with fellow councillors and 
local authority officers.” 

 
6.6 Councillor Harrison’s Facebook page is under the name “Cllr Tim Harrison”.  

 

28



V1 
Page 23 of 43 

6.7 It is clear from the LGA Guidance that this alone does not mean that Councillor 
Harrison was acting in his capacity when posting on Facebook: 
 

“Simply describing yourself as a councillor in a social media posting or at the 
top of your page or in your username or profile, for example, does not of itself 
mean that every posting you make is covered by the Code. There must be a 
link within the individual posting or thread to your role as a councillor or to 
local authority business.” 

 
6.8 However, all Councillor Green’s posts that Councillor Harrison has shared and 

commented on relate clearly to matters which are council business. The post about 
badger culling is not council business, however, as confirmed by Councillor Harrison 
in interview, it was intended to contrast Councillor Green’s support for badger culling 
against his comments about litter endangering wildlife on the A1. Councillor Harrison 
was making a political point in the post.  
 

6.9 In the context of the other recent posts and shares, it is clear that Councillor Harrison 
is attempting to influence the public’s view of Councillor Green as a councillor. We 
therefore find that Councillor Harrison shared this post in his role as councillor. 
 

6.10 We have therefore concluded that Councillor Harrison was acting in his official 
capacity and is therefore subject to the Code of Conduct. 

 
Respect  
 
6.11 The definition of Respect in the Code is set out above in paragraph 3.5. We have 

considered the Local Government Guidance (LGA Guidance) and relevant case law 
below. 
 

6.12 When describing ‘Disrespectful Behaviour’ the LGA Guidance states: 
 

“Failure to treat others with respect will occur when unreasonable or 
demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or about another. The 
circumstances in which the behaviour occurs are relevant in assessing 
whether the behaviour is disrespectful. The circumstances include the place 
where the behaviour occurs, who observes the behaviour, the character and 
relationship of the people involved and the behaviour of anyone who prompts 
the alleged disrespect. 
 
Examples of disrespect in a local government context might include rude or 
angry outbursts in meetings, use of inappropriate language in meetings or 
written communications such as swearing, ignoring someone who is 
attempting to contribute to a discussion, attempts to shame or humiliate others 
in public, nit-picking and fault finding, the use of inappropriate sarcasm in 
communications and the sharing of malicious gossip or rumours. 
 
Disrespectful behaviour can be harmful to both you and to others. It can lower 
the public’s expectations and confidence in you and your local authority and 
councillors and politicians more generally.  It influences the willingness of 
fellow councillors, officers, and the public to speak up or interact with you 
because they expect the encounter will be unpleasant or uncomfortable. 
Ongoing disrespectful behaviour can undermine willingness of officers to give 
frank advice, damage morale at a local authority, and ultimately create a toxic 
culture and has been associated with instances of governance failure.” 

 

29



V1 
Page 24 of 43 

6.13 The requirement to treat others with respect must be viewed objectively. Account 
should be taken of the member’s intent and how their behaviour would reasonably be 
perceived. 
 

6.14 In Boughton, Dartmouth Town Council (2009) APE 0419 at paragraph 3.3.6, the 
Tribunal described a failure to treat with respect as follows: 

 
“A failure to treat others with respect will occur when unfair, unreasonable or 
demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against another. The 
circumstances in which the behaviour including the place, who observed it, the 
character and relationship of the people involved will all be relevant in 
assessing whether the behaviour was disrespectful.” 

 
6.15 In Buchanan, Somerset County Council (2009) APE 0409, in relation to a complaint 

made by a chief executive, the Tribunal said at paragraph 51: 
 

“In the Tribunal’s view it was desirable that the threshold for a failure to treat 
another with respect be set at a level that allowed for the minor annoyances 
and on occasions bad manners which are part of life.  During the course of 
their work people often show a lack of consideration or bad manners but it is 
not desirable that every such slight should be considered a breach of the 
Code.  To set too low a level might lead to complaints that were about little 
other than a difference of opinion over the wording of a letter or what amounts 
to rudeness and for this reason the Tribunal thinks that not every instance of 
bad manners or insensitive comment should amount to a failure to treat 
another with respect.” 

 
6.16 The key elements of finding a failure to treat others with respect are that the conduct 

is unreasonable or demeaning and directed by one person against another. 
 

6.17 The LGA Guidance states that disrespectful behaviour is “when unreasonable or 
demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or about another.” 
 

6.18 The Oxford dictionary definition of ‘unreasonable’ is: 
 

“beyond the limits of acceptability or fairness” 
 

6.19 The Oxford dictionary meaning of ‘demeaning’ is: 
 

“causing someone to lose their dignity and the respect of others.” 
 

Freedom of Speech and the right to enhanced protection in freedom of speech within political 
comment - Article 10 European Convention on Human Rights  
 
6.20 It is important to have regard to the right to freedom of speech as set out in Article 10 

of the European Convention on Human Rights (Article 10 ECHR): 
 

• Art 10(1) “Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall 
include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and 
ideas without interference by a public authority…” 

 
• Art 10(2) The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and 

responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or 
penalties as are prescribed by law and necessary in a democratic society… 

 

30



V1 
Page 25 of 43 

6.21 Article 10 ECHR has been enshrined in UK domestic law by Section 1 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998. 
 

6.22 A number of European court cases have established not only the right to free speech 
but also an enhanced level afforded to freedom of speech in a political context, and 
that any interference with that freedom should be carefully scrutinised. 
 

6.23 The case of Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504, 
held that: 
 

• Article 10 of ECHR protects not only the substance of political comment but 
the form in which it is conveyed; 
 

• a degree of the immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, exaggerated, 
provocative, polemical, colourful, non-rational and aggressive is to be 
tolerated; 

 

• political comment includes comment on public administration and the 
adequacy of the performance of public duties by others, but not gratuitous 
personal comments; 

 
6.24 The case of Jerusalem v Austria (2003) 37 EHHR 25 held that: 
 

“In this respect the court recalls that while freedom of expression is important 
for everybody, it is especially so for an elected representative of the people. 
He or she represents the electorate, draws attention to its pre-occupations and 
defends its interests. Accordingly, interference with the freedom of expression 
of an opposition member of parliament, like the applicant, call for the closest 
scrutiny on the part of the court.” 

 
6.25 In Sanders v Kingston (No.1) [2005] EWHC 1145 (Admin) the original tribunal held 

that, in the Leader of Peterborough Council’s responses to a letter circulated by 
Carrickfergus Council to other councils in the UK asking for support on a particular 
issue relating to the personal tragedy of soldiers’ suicides, his comments and other 
comments made publicly, amounted to personal abuse.  

 
6.26 In summary, the facts were that the leader wrote a response on a letter passed to him 

by the Chief Executive, in response to a request made by Carrickfergus Council.  
 
6.27 Councillor Sanders wrote a handwritten note on a copy of the letter and returned it to 

the Carrickfergus Chief Executive as follows: 
 

“Members of the Armed Forces DO get killed be it accident or design — THAT 
is what they are paid for.” 

 
6.28 He then signed the comment and identified himself as Leader.   
 
6.29 There were further exchanges between the Leader of Carrickfergus Council and 

Councillor Sanders, the matter was leaked to the press and Councillor Sanders 
continued to make highly offensive comments. Councillor Sanders also used 
aggressive and rude language in various conversations with journalists covering the 
story. 

 

31



V1 
Page 26 of 43 

6.30 During the investigation into the subsequent Standards complaint against Councillor 
Sanders, he claimed that Article 10 was engaged and that he was exercising his right 
to free speech. 

 
6.31 The Standards Board for England found that Councillor Sanders had breached the 

Code of Conduct both in his written comments and in his conversations with 
journalists. 

 
6.32 In Councillor Sanders’ appeal, the judge stated that, on the issue of freedom of 

speech, there were three questions to answer: 
 

“1.   Was the Case Tribunal entitled as a matter of fact to conclude that 
Councillor Sanders’ conduct was in breach of the Code of Conduct ? 

 
2.   If so, was the finding in itself or the imposition of a sanction prima facie 

a breach of Article 10 ? 
 
3.   If so, was the restriction involved one which was justified by reason of 

the requirements of Article 10(2) ? 
 
6.33 The appeal held that, on the first point, the Standards Board were entitled to conclude 

that Councillor Sanders was in breach. The tone and disrespectful nature of his 
comments on the letter and subsequently and in interviews with journalists was not 
what would be expected of a council leader. The court held also that, on the second 
point, Article 10 was engaged because of the issues of free speech, but Councillor 
Sanders’ comments were not expressions of political opinions that attracted the 
higher protection afforded by article 10. They were simply expressions of personal 
anger and abuse.  

 
6.34 On the final point, the court considered whether the restrictions imposed on Councillor 

Sanders were justified under Article 10 (2) – i.e. necessary in a democratic society for 
the protection of the rights of others. The court held that the adoption of a Code of 
Conduct was required by law and ensured a minimum set of standards in councillors’ 
conduct. Councillor Sanders had signed up to the council’s Code of Conduct and, as 
his actions and words were not held to be expressions of political opinion, the 
interference in his right to freedom of speech, by the finding of the Standards Board 
that he was in breach, was justified under Article 10(2). 

 
6.35 The three part test was applied in the case of (Calver) v Adjudication Panel for Wales 

(2013). This was a judicial review case in which a councillor sought judicial review of 
the decision of a county council’s standards committee which found that comments 
he made about the community council and its members on the internet failed to 
comply with paragraphs 2(b) and 4 of the Code of Conduct by, respectively, not 
treating others with respect, and bringing the community council into disrepute.      

 
6.36 The court adopted the three questions identified in Sanders v Kingston and found that 

the committee and the panel were entitled to conclude that the councillor’s comments 
breached the Code of Conduct.   

 
6.37 In answering the second and third questions, the court concluded that the panel’s 

decision that the councillor’s comments were in breach of the Code of Conduct was a 
disproportionate interference with his rights under Article 10. 

 
6.38 The approach was also adopted in the recent case of R (on the application of Clive 

Robinson) v Buckinghamshire Council (2021), when the court held that a finding by a 

32



V1 
Page 27 of 43 

local authority monitoring officer that a parish councillor had breached a code of 
conduct by making statements about the motivations, intentions and integrity of the 
other councillors at a public meeting to discuss green belt development had been an 
interference with his right to freedom of expression under ECHR Art.10. His 
statements attracted the enhanced protection afforded to political speech and debate, 
and the interference was not proportionate to the aim of protecting the reputation of 
the other councillors. 
 

6.39 In Councillor Harrison’s case we have considered the three part test set out in 
Sanders v Kingston below as follows: 
 

1 – Is there a breach of the Code of Conduct? 
 
Councillor Green’s Complaint 
 
6.40 Councillor Harrison looked through Councillor Green’s councillor facebook account 

and selectively shared and commented on various posts. He also shared a post by 
“Lincolnshire against the Cull”, which, he explains in interview, was intended to make 
a political comment about Councillor Green’s previously expressed message that litter 
on the A1 harms wildlife.  
 

6.41 We have considered Councillor Green’s complaint in two parts: firstly all the posts 
except the post about badger culling; secondly the post about badger culling on its 
own.  
 

The posts except the badger culling post 
 

6.42 In respect of the sharing of the posts, Councillor Green states, in his statement: 
 

“He combed my social media over a period of 1-2 hours on 9 February 2024 
and proceeded to share multiple posts to his own feed, accompanied with 
vitriolic attacks. Councillor Harrison went so far as to edit a video still of me, 
incorporating his own commentary.” 

 
6.43 Regarding the complaint about Councillor Harrison of going through Councillor 

Green’s account and sharing posts, we do not find that there is any breach of the 
Code of Conduct in this. Councillor Green’s councillor Facebook account is a public 
account, and short of blocking Councillor Harrison, Councillor Green cannot prevent 
him looking through it, sharing posts and making comments on them.  
 

6.44 Councillor Green also explains that he uses Facebook as an alternative to formal 
press releases, which is finds slow and cumbersome. He states: 
 

“First and foremost, it is about putting across a counter narrative. There is an 
expectation from the public that we hold the administration to account. It is 
important for democracy for rival opinions to be put across. It is something I 
feel my residents would expect me to do, I don’t believe they would feel I was 
doing a good job if I did not hold the administration to account.” 

 
6.45 Councillor Green feels that in sharing and commenting on the posts in a “vitriolic” 

way, Councillor Harrison has treated him with disrespect.  
 

6.46 It is the case that all the posts are intended to be disrespectful towards Councillor 
Green. Councillor Harrison comments on them, often sarcastically, calling into 
question both the previous Administration’s integrity (of which Councillor Green was 

33



V1 
Page 28 of 43 

part) and questioning the validity of what councillor Green is saying (as in the post 
about Newark and Sherwood council workers cleaning the side of the A1 in teams of 
three using an air horn to warn of danger).  
 

6.47 Councillor Green may find the posts “vitriolic” and offensive, but the guidance in 
Heesom states:  
 

“a degree of the immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing, exaggerated, 
provocative, polemical, colourful, non-rational and aggressive is to be 
tolerated.” 

 
6.48 We have also considered the case of Calver above, which concerned a number of 

unpleasant and sarcastic comments made about members of Manorbier Community 
Council. In the judgment, Mr Justice Beatson stated: 
 

“I have described the comments as sarcastic and mocking, and some as 
seeking to undermine Cllr Gourlay in an unattractive way. However, 
notwithstanding what I have said about their tone, the majority relate to the 
way the Council meetings were run and recorded. Some of them were about 
the competence of Cllr Gourlay who, albeit in a voluntary capacity in the 
absence of a Council official, was taking the minutes and no doubt trying to do 
her best. Others were about the provision of minutes to Councillors or the 
approach of Councillors to declarations of interest. The comments were in no 
sense “high” manifestations of political expression. But, they (or many of 
them) were comments about the inadequate performance of Councillors in 
their public duties. As such, in my judgment, they fall within the term “political 
expression” in the broader sense the term has been applied in the Strasbourg 
jurisprudence. For the reasons given at [55], it is difficult to disentangle the 
sarcasm and mockery from the criticism of the way Council meetings were 
run.” 
  

6.49 Considering the first question set out in Sanders v Kingston, and, considering 
Heesom these comments are clearly disrespectful and, prima facie, are a breach of 
the Code of Conduct.  
 

2 Was the finding in itself or the imposition of a sanction prima facie a breach of Article 10? 
 

6.50 However, applying the second question, this is an issue of freedom of expression and 
Article 10 is clearly engaged. We find that the comments fall squarely within the 
definition under Heesom. They are clearly political commentary by Councillor 
Harrison, aimed at attacking Councillor Green for his own group’s previous actions 
and pointing out what he (Councillor Harrison) thinks is wrong in the things that 
Councillor Green is saying. Councillor Harrison is not gratuitously abusive to 
Councillor Green, although he is sarcastic and mocking. However, following the 
guidance in “Calver”, political commentary does not have to be “high minded” or 
particularly well-expressed.  
 

6.51 It is also the case that, if Councillor Green uses social media to criticise the 
Administration, then Councillor Harrison and others will do the same in respect of the 
opposition groups and councillors. There is nothing in these posts and shares which 
would take them out of the realm of Article 10 ECHR and the enhanced protection of 
freedom of political expression. 
 

34



V1 
Page 29 of 43 

3 If so, was the restriction involved one which was justified by reason of the requirements of 
Article 10(2)? 

 
6.52 In answering the third question, we have considered that the restriction in this case 

would be a finding of breach under the Code of Conduct. Several cases have held 
that the bar for imposing a restriction on freedom of expression is high; and more so if 
there is enhanced protection due to political comment. The case of Jerusalem v 
Austria, above, held that: 
 

“According to the Court's well-established case law, freedom of expression 
constitutes one of the essential foundations of a democratic society and one of 
the basic conditions for its progress and for individual self-fulfilment. Subject to 
para.2 of Art.10, it is applicable not only to “information” or “ideas” that are 
favourably received or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of indifference, 
but also to those that offend, shock or disturb. Such are the demands of 
pluralism, tolerance and broadmindedness, without which there is no 
“democratic society”. As set forth in Art.10, this freedom is subject to 
exceptions, which must, however, be construed strictly, and the need for any 
restrictions must be established convincingly.” 
 

6.53 As we find that these posts are political expression, and they are not merely abusive, 
we find, in respect of the third test, that a finding of a breach of the Code of Conduct 
would amount to a disproportionate interference with Councillor Harrison’s article 10 
rights and is “not necessary in a democratic society”, as set out in Article 10(2). 
 

The badger culling post 
 

6.54 In terms of sharing the ‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’ Facebook post, Councillor 
Green feels that Councillor Harrison has incited hatred against him. 
 

6.55 In his statement, Councillor Green states: 
 

“I consider this post by Councillor Harrison incited local animal rights 
campaigners to bombard me, fundamentally as a response to the post I made 
on 2 March about the administration refusing to support wildlife near the A1. I 
personally did not see my phone number or email address within the post. 
However, with a picture of me in the post, if you were to do a search for my 
name you could access that information. 
 
A member of the public commented on Councillor Harrison’s post: 
 

“What’s the chance of me culling this waste of space, I’m sure nobody 
would notice him missing from his ward.” 

 
This constituted a death threat against me resulting in a Fixed Penalty Notice 
being issued. 
 
After being told by the Police that his post was offensive, Councillor Harrison 
went to greater lengths to share the link to that post. 
 
Due to the specific threat against me, which Councillor Harrison promoted, the 
March Parish Council meeting at South Witham was cancelled and the March 
Parish Council meeting at Great Ponton was postponed. 
 

35



V1 
Page 30 of 43 

I am grateful that my personal address was not available, but I consider 
Councillor Harrison opened me up to what was credible danger.” 

 
6.56 In interview, Councillor Harrison told us: 

 
“…unfortunately the guy who was issued with a fixed penalty notice, if I’d have 
got to him first he wouldn’t have got that fixed penalty notice because I would 
have told him to “no, and go to court” because as I went the police also rang 
me… recently I’ve been burgled, this is the irony in this, recently I’ve been 
burgled, and it took the Police 6 weeks to turn out to my house. Somebody 
puts, gets offended by a Facebook post the Police not only call at my house 
they call at my office at work they then ring me to chase this up within hours, 
so the irony is where a burglary somebody can’t come out for 6 weeks, but a 
hurty Facebook post they’re out within 3 hours, so I then said to the 
Policeman, I said why are you ringing me? He said, will you remove the post 
so I said no. I said I don’t censor what people say to me on my post and you’re 
using the word cull, I went on my phone while I was talking to him and I said 
right here now, are you going to go down now and issue the BBC with a 
penalty because they’re culling their staff… I said there’s meanings on the 
word cull, and you’ve picked on this poor guy, frightened the life out of him … 
it was a flippant comment, maybe in bad taste, I agree, was it offensive? Was 
it a death threat? No… They then went totally overboard on this, the original 
reason for me posting this is because as you will see Councillor Ben Green is 
decrying us Independents as not caring about wildlife because we didn’t 
wanna do the A1, but then allowing and permitting a 100% cull of badgers in 
his ward… I was highlighting again the hypocrisy of what this Councillor was 
saying. Again, transparency to the people who voted me in. The fact that this 
gentleman made a comment unfortunate, flippant, death threat? Definite not… 
they knew it wasn’t a death threat there were no follow up death threats … he 
wasn’t living with a baseball bat under his bed, which he claims and only a few 
days later he’s running up and down the A1 laughing his head off, showing 
exactly where he is, sounding an airhorn, breaking the law, sounding an 
airhorn at the side of the A1… so this feigned indignance, cost again the 
Council a lot of money because Councillor Jeal then insisted that we have 
security guards for a number of weeks working at the Council offices for this 
flippant comment, in hindsight he shouldn’t have made it but he did and he got 
fined for it and he removed it and it was removed straight away. The Police 
made him remote it at the time.” 

 
6.57 We have concerns about Councillor Harrison’s comments. He refused to remove the 

post when asked by the Police. Whatever his views on the Police dealing with this 
matter more quickly than they dealt with his burglary, the Police clearly thought it was 
dangerous enough to merit action – i.e. a conversation with Councillor Harrison and a 
request to remove it and issuing a fixed penalty notice to . We are 
surprised that Councillor Harrison refused a direct request from the Police. 
  

6.58 We also find Councillor Harrison’s attempt to compare a comment about culling 
badgers with a report about culling BBC staff to be disingenuous. It is obvious that the 
reference to culling badgers is literal, whereas the reference to culling BBC staff is 
used in its pejorative figurative sense. There is no comparison to be made. 
 

6.59 Finally, we are concerned that Councillor Harrison assumes that  
comment was flippant and not offensive. Badger culling is known to be an emotive 
subject. We understand that Councillor Harrison wished to highlight Councillor 
Green’s alleged “hypocrisy in referencing the impact of litter on the A1 on wildlife, 

36

Gill.Thompson_13
Typewritten text
member of public

Gill.Thompson_14
Typewritten text
member of public's



V1 
Page 31 of 43 

while supporting a badger cull in his ward”. However, the sharing of this post, with 
Councillor Green’s face imposed on the image, and links to his address etc, is, in our 
view, inflammatory. It is not possible to tell with any certainty that  
comment is flippant, or whether others might pick up on it and take it further.  
 

6.60 We also note that the Police thought the comment was serious enough to impose a 
fixed penalty on  
 

6.61 When asked how he would react to such a post, Councillor Harrison told us: 
 

“…nothing on that post incited any violence.” 
 
6.62 We asked Councillor Harrison whether he knew anything about the group 

‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’. He told us: 
 

“Nothing at all” 
 
6.63 When asked how he found the post if he knew nothing about the group, Councillor 

Harrison told us: 
 

“It came up on my Facebook feed. I’ve got quite a large following on Facebook 
and I get such a lot of stuff that comes up on Facebook.” 

 
6.64 When asked whether he considered his post opened Councillor Green up to any 

danger, Councillor Harrison told us: 
 

“No I personally don’t think it did. No. 
 
… if there is any inciting in there to target Councillor Green, it wasn’t me, I’ve 
shared a post. If that post was beyond any sort of thing, then that would have 
been taken down by Facebook, I wouldn’t have been able to share it, none of 
it adds up I’m afraid. I actually know Councillor Ben Green quite well now, and 
I know this is all feigned indignance and feigned stuff to have a targeted thing 
to try and shut me up, because I was highlighting a lot of things that were 
going wrong.” 

 
6.65 We understand that Councillor Harrison’s intention was to highlight what he viewed as 

Councillor Green’s hypocrisy, and that he was intending to make a political point 
about Councillor Green’s stated views in previous of his posts about protecting wildlife 
from litter on the A1. We have considered the post under the three part test in 
Sanders v Kingston above.  
 

6.66 Under the first part, we consider that the post was intended to highlight Councillor 
Green’s “hypocrisy” and was clearly meant to be disrespectful towards him. Prima 
facie it was a breach of the Code of Conduct. 

 
6.67 Under the second part, it is an issue of freedom of expression and therefore Article 10 

is engaged. We consider that the post is designed to be powerful, shocking, offensive 
and falls within the definition of Heesom above. Although it is not Councillor 
Harrison’s original post, he has shared it from “Lincolnshire against the Cull”. By 
imposing a large picture of Councillor Green and the words “All badgers are to be 
killed here" across a plan of Councillor Green’s ward, it is clearly intended to be a 
political comment. We find therefore, that the higher protection afforded to political 
comment is relevant. 

 

37

Gill.Thompson_15
Typewritten text
member of public's

Gill.Thompson_16
Typewritten text
member of public.



V1 
Page 32 of 43 

6.68 However, in considering this under the third part of the test, i.e. whether interference 
with the article 10 right is justified by a finding of a breach of the Code of Conduct, we 
are persuaded by the following issues: 

 

• the post contained a large picture of Councillor Green and his contact details; 

• the post attracted a death threat in a comment – whether it was genuine or 
flippant is irrelevant in this context; 

• the Police thought the matter was serious enough to speak to Councillor 
Harrison and to impose a fixed penalty notice on  

• Councillor Harrison refused the Police’s request to remove the post; and 

• Councillor Green stated that he had to cancel or postpone two surgeries and 
felt that he was in “credible danger”. 

 
6.69 We have also considered the case of Re Bunting Application for Leave to Appeal, 

[2019] 3 WLUK 709, a summary of which is as follows: 
 

“A local councillor appealed against her suspension from the council for 
breaches of the Northern Ireland Government’s code of Conduct for 
Councillors pending investigation into complaints that she had incited racial 
hatred,. 
 
Fourteen complaints had been made over a period of six months, from fellow 
councillors and members of the public. She was alleged to have publicly made 
comments and acted in support of a far-right political group inciting racial 
hatred against Islam and Muslims in general and in Belfast communities. She 
was further alleged to have posted on social media a sectarian and racist 
cartoon meme. The local government's commissioner for standards 
suspended her for four months pending an investigation into the complaints. 
He did so under the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014 s.60(1) on 
the basis that there was prima facie evidence that she had breached the 
Code, that the nature of the breaches and the existence of additional 
aggravating factors was such that, if the allegations were proved, she was 
likely to be disqualified from being a councillor, and that it was in the public 
interest to immediately suspend her. 
 
The councillor submitted that the commissioner had erred in applying s.60(1); 
further, he had failed to consider her right to freedom of expression under 
ECHR art.10. 
 
The High Court found that the suspension was justified. In considering of 
ECHR art.10 – it confirmed that the jurisprudence of the European Court of 
Human Rights had long recognised the importance of expression in the 
political sphere and offered elected politicians an enhanced level of protection 
under art.10. Against that background, the correct approach was to look at 
each complaint against the councillor on an individual basis and consider 
whether her behaviour attracted enhanced protection such that her 
suspension was a prima facie interference with her art.10 right and, if so, 
whether that interference was justified and proportionate. Applying that 
approach, first, the bulk of the councillor's behaviour had a sufficient 
connection with her role as a councillor and her contribution to issues of public 
debate to come within the category of enhanced protection. The major 
exception was her use of the cartoon meme, which was simply abusive and 
disclosed no true contribution to political discourse. Second, given that the 
bulk of her behaviour fell within the sphere of enhanced protection, her 

38

Gill.Thompson_17
Typewritten text
member of public;



V1 
Page 33 of 43 

suspension was prima facie an interference with her right under art.10(1). 
Third, three of the complaints concerned behaviour that exceeded the bounds 
of protected speech and could justify an interference with her right by way of 
an interim sanction of suspension under art.10(2). The conduct giving rise to 
the remaining complaints was not sufficiently serious to justify interference 
with her art.10(1) right given the width of the ability of an elected councillor to 
engage in behaviour that shocked or annoyed or appeared dangerous or 
irresponsible. Fourth, the complaints that justified suspension were serious 
matters that raised grave issues about the extent to which confidence in local 
government institutions in Northern Ireland might be compromised if 
appropriate steps were not taken. Accordingly, a four-month suspension 
period was appropriate and reflected the seriousness of the matter and the 
need to provide a level of deterrence pending the outcome of the full 
investigation.”  

 
6.70 In essence, this case found, that, even if comments etc., attract the enhanced 

protection of political freedom of expression, there are circumstances, depending on 
the type and nature of the comments/posts, which would mean an interference in that 
freedom was necessary, e.g. by a suspension in the case of Ms Bunting. 

 
6.71 We find, because Councillor Harrison’s post attracted Police action, a request for him 

to remove it, a death threat and action against the person who made the death threat, 
that it is analogous to the situation in Bunting. That case concerned incitement to 
racial hatred; this post concerns incitement to violence. We find, therefore, that 
interference in Councillor Harrison’s right to freedom of expression under Article 10(1) 
by a finding of a breach of the Code of Conduct (Respect) is justified under Article 
10(2) to protect Councillor Green’s rights.  

 
Councillor Jeal’s complaint 
 
6.72 Councillor Jeal’s complaint is set out in paragraph 4.41 above. 

 
6.73 Councillor Jeal feels that in sharing the ‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’ Facebook post, 

Councillor Harrison was inciting hatred against Councillor Green. 
 

6.74 In his statement, Councillor Jeal stated: 
 

“This is our own flavour of extremism in Lincolnshire. the animal rights and 
environmental lobby. [REDACTED]. There are known animal rights protestors 
on the Council. Whilst I and others don’t necessarily take a position on their 
beliefs – we condemn their methods which are known to attack people and 
property. In my view, their methods set back the environmental and animal 
rights lobby.  
 
Nobody knows what Councillor Green’s opinion is. Councillor Green works for 
an environmental charity and I don’t believe he is ever going to be public 
about his opinion on this. 
 
The aim of Councillor Harrison’s post, which was shared by Councillor Ellis, 
was to direct the local form of extremism to intimidate, hurt and potentially kill 
Councillor Green.” 

 
6.75 Councillor Jeal states that, following the post, he spent several hours on the phone 

with various people, including Councillor Green who was “obviously quite afraid about 

39



V1 
Page 34 of 43 

this”. He explains that he referred the matter to the Police, as did the local MP, Gareth 
Davies.  

 
6.76 Councillor Jeal was also unhappy that Councillor Harrison refused to remove the 

post. He states in his statement: 
 

“Cllr Harrison even after learning that a fixed penalty notice had been issued 
failed to withdraw the totally false and deliberately provocative post.” 

 
6.77 Over the next few days, Councillor Jeal spoke to several councillors, senior officers 

and external people, as detailed in his statement, including the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, the Chief Executive of the Council, a County Councillor, and members 
of the public, all expressing concern about the post and the death threat. He also 
refers to a further post by Councillor Harrison: 

 
“On 21 March Councillor Harrison posted three short videos on Facebook. 
The videos were of Councillor Harrison and, I believe, Councillor Cunnington 
and another councillor, dressed as badgers running around Councillor 
Green’s ward looking for problems. 

 
Councillor Harrison’s post stated: 

 
“Well we try our hardest to do our best for our communities but it’s great when 
others help us check on other communities and find what’s wrong. Mr Badger 
recently sent us this issue in Woolsthorpe, thanks for that Mr Badger, that low 
sign looks very dangerous, but please be careful in that area as there is a 
badger cull in force.” 
 
I don’t believe these people are fit for public service.” 

 
6.78 Councillor Harrison stated, about Councillor Jeal’s complaint: 
 

“…so this is the sort of guy that we are dealing with here, you know, this 
feigned indignance…… cost again at the Council of a lot of money because 
Councillor Jeal then insisted that we had security guards for a number of 
weeks working at the Council offices for ……a flippant comment, in hindsight 
he shouldn’t have made it but he did, and he got fined for it and he removed it 
and it was removed straight away. The Police made him remove it at the 
time.” 

 
6.79 In respect of  comment, Councillor Harrison states: 
 

“It was removed by the Police.  First and foremost, while I’m very popular on 
Facebook, I don’t always see my comments, I’ve, I’ve got a massive feed that 
things will go down. The responsibility….….is not for me to remove comments 
that people, I might not even see them, I might not see the, see the 
notification.  if you can yourself go and look at my Facebook feed and see 
how many different entries are made daily on my Facebook, and how many 
comments are made daily on my Facebook.  If I was to go and police every 
single comment I wouldn’t be in Council. I, I must get on average 500 to a 
1000 comments a day….” 

 
6.80 It is the case that we have not seen any evidence of members of the Council being a 

member of an animal rights group.  We have also not seen the video of 21 March that 

40

Gill.Thompson_18
Typewritten text
member of public's



V1 
Page 35 of 43 

Councillor Jeal refers to. We cannot therefore make any comment on Councillor 
Jeal’s statements about these matters.  

 
6.81 However, we find the impact of Councillor Harrison’s post on Councillor Jeal, as 

described in his statement, to be compelling. He received calls from, and had 
discussions with, several senior internal and external people in the Council, the 
Police, the County Council and the public, following the post. 

 
6.82 It is also clear from Councillor Harrison’s comments, that he would not, or could not, 

see the issues with his post, refusing to remove it even when asked to do so by the 
Police.  

 
6.83 For the reasons stated above, under the assessment of Councillor Green’s complaint, 

we find that Councillor Harrison breached the relevant paragraph of the Code of 
Conduct (Respect). 

 
Councillor Woolley’s complaint 
 
6.84 Councillor Woolley’s complaint is set out in paragraph 4.45 above. 

 
6.85 Councillor Woolley was most concerned about the comment made by the member of 

public on Councillor Harrison’s post about badger culling, which she stated was a 
death threat against Councillor Green. However, she also referred to a number of 
“vitriolic attacks” against Councillor Green over one weekend. 
 

6.86 In her statement Councillor Woolley stated: 
 

“At the time I submitted my complaint, Councillor Harrison and a number of 
other councillors who I think were Independent and members of the public, 
predominantly from the Grantham area, really did criticise Councillor Green. 
 
It felt like anything Councillor Green put on social media there were others 
looking to find another angle. I did not like the language used, it was 
unpleasant.” 
 

6.87 In specific reference to  comment, Councillor Woolley stated: 
 
“To me this felt like intimidation and incitement. 
 
What I found really, really disappointing was that Councillor Harrison did not 
respond to that comment to say it was completely unacceptable, nor did he 
take the comment down. I felt things had got a little bit too far.” 

 
6.88 In his interview, Councillor Harrison made no specific reference to Councillor 

Woolley’s complaint over and above his comments above in relation to the complaints 
generally. 

 
6.89 For the reasons stated above under Councillor Green’s complaint, we find that 

Councillor Harrison breached the relevant paragraph (Respect) in the Code of 
Conduct. 

 

41

Gill.Thompson_19
Typewritten text
member of public's



V1 
Page 36 of 43 

Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 
Bullying 
 
6.90 The definition of Bullying in the Code is set out above in paragraph 3.5. 

 
6.91 The definition of bullying used by the Arbitration, Conciliation and Advice Service 

(ACAS) is: 
 

“Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious or 
insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means intended to 
undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying or harassment 
may be by an individual against an individual (perhaps by someone in a 
position of authority such as a manager or supervisor) or involve groups of 
people. It may be obvious or it may be insidious. Whatever form it takes, it is 
unwarranted and unwelcome to the individual.” (Advice leaflet - Bullying and 
harassment at work: Guidance for employees, ACAS March 2014) 

 
6.92 The Local Government Association Guidance published in July 2021 states: 

 
“Like disrespectful behaviour, bullying can be difficult to define. When 
allegations of bullying are considered it’s likely that the person handling the 
complaint will consider both the perspective of the alleged victim, and whether 
the councillor intended their actions to be bullying. They will also consider 
whether the individual was reasonably entitled to believe they were being 
bullied. 
 
Conduct is unlikely to be considered as bullying when it is an isolated incident 
of a minor nature, where it is targeted at issues, rather than at an individual’s 
conduct or behaviour, or when the behaviour by both the complainant and 
councillor contributed equally to the breakdown in relations. However, the 
cumulative impact of repeated ‘minor’ incidents should not be underestimated. 
 
Examples of bullying include but are not limited to: 
 

• verbal abuse, such as shouting, swearing, threats, insults, sarcasm, 
ridiculing or demeaning others, inappropriate nicknames, or humiliating 
language 

• physical or psychological threats or actions towards an individual or 
their personal property 

• practical jokes 

• overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing 
someone from undertaking their role or following agreed policies and 
procedures 

• inappropriate comments about someone’s performance 

• abuse of authority or power, such as placing unreasonable 
expectations on someone in relation to their job, responsibilities, or 
hours of work, or coercing someone to meet such expectations 

• ostracising or excluding someone from meetings, communications, 
work events or socials 

• sending, distributing, or posting detrimental material about other 
people, including images, in any medium 

• smear campaigns 
 

42



V1 
Page 37 of 43 

Does this mean that councillors cannot raise concerns about officers or 
fellow councillors? 
 
Bullying behaviour should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a 
councillor can make in challenging policy or scrutinising performance. An 
example of this would be debates in the chamber about policy or asking 
officers to explain the rationale for the professional opinions they have put 
forward. You are entitled to challenge fellow councillors and officers as to why 
they hold their views. However, if your criticism is a personal threat or abusive 
or offensive in nature, you are likely to cross the line of what is acceptable 
behaviour.” 

 
6.93 The LGA Guidance also states: 

 
“Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting, 
or humiliating behaviour, an abuse or mise of power that can make a person 
feel vulnerable, upset, undermined, humiliated, denigrated or threatened. 
Power does not always mean being in a position f authority and can include 
both personal strength and the power to coerce through fear or intimidation. 
Bullying may be obvious or be hidden or insidious. Such conduct is usually 
part of a pattern of behaviour which attempts to undermine an individual or a 
group of individuals, is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may 
adversely affect their health. 
 
… 
 
… Bullying can have an impact on a local council’s effective use of resources 
and provision of services… Bullying can impact on a councillor’s ability to 
represent their residents effectively. It can also discourage candidates from 
standing in local elections, making local councils less representative of their 
communities, and impacting local democracy.” 

 
6.94 Following this guidance, we have considered whether the post about badger culling 

could be considered to be bullying.  
 

6.95 In his statement, Councillor Green stated: 
 

“I consider this post by Councillor Harrison incited local animal rights 
campaigners to bombard me, fundamentally as a response to the post I made 
on 2 March about the administration refusing to support wildlife near the A1. I 
personally did not see my phone number or email address within the post. 
However, with a picture of me in the post, if you were to do a search for my 
name you could access that information. 
 
A member of the public commented on Councillor Harrison’s post: 
 

“What’s the chance of me culling this waste of space,I’m sure nobody 
would notice him missing from his ward.” 

 
This comment constituted a death threat against me resulting in a Fixed 
Penalty Notice being issued. 
 
After being told by the Police that his post was offensive, Councillor Harrison 
went to greater lengths to share the link to that post. 
 

43



V1 
Page 38 of 43 

Due to the specific threat against me, which Councillor Harrison promoted, the 
March Parish Council meeting at South Witham was cancelled and the March 
Parish Council meeting at Great Ponton was postponed. 
 
I am grateful that my personal address was not available, but I consider 
Councillor Harrison opened me up to what was credible danger. 
 
There was a long period where it was very clear that Councillor Harrison could 
not stomach any criticism of the administration whatsoever so tends to come 
down like a tonne of bricks on absolutely anything anybody says which is 
negative about the administration. However, Councillor Harrison’s behaviour 
appears to be obsessional in his criticism of me. 
 
I do not consider Councillor Harrison’s posts and comments about me on 
social media fall within the realm of political debate. They are attacks against 
me personally.” 

 
6.96 In his statement, Councillor Jeal stated that, of the many phone calls he received after 

the post, he spoke to Councillor Green several times, who was clearly scared and 
was discussing measures to protect himself in his home. 
 

6.97 In her statement, Councillor Woolley stated that she felt Councillor Harrison’s post 
was intimidatory and an incitement to violence towards Councillor Green. She was 
also unhappy that Councillor Harrison did not respond himself to the comment to say 
that it was unacceptable and remove the comment himself: 
 

“What I found really, really disappointing was that Councillor Harrison did not 
respond to that comment to say it was completely unacceptable, nor did he 
take the comment down. I felt things had got a little bit too far.” 

 
6.98 Councillor Harrison denied having taken much notice of the comment, stating that he 

receives a huge number of comments and interactions on his post and that: 
 

“The responsibility….….is not for me to remove comments that people, I 
might not even see them, I might not see the, see the notification.  if you 
can yourself go and look at my Facebook feed and see how many different 
entries are made daily on my Facebook, and how many comments are 
made daily on my Facebook.  If I was to go and police every single 
comment I wouldn’t be in Council. I, I must get on average 500 to a 1000 
comments a day….”  

 
6.99 We do not accept Councillor Harrison’s explanation on this point. His sharing of the 

post was clearly intended to be provocative and to promote a lot of comments. We 
have seen on the post that he was interacting with other comments. He also had the 
time to go through Councillor Green’s Facebook account and share and comment on 
several of his posts. Therefore, we do not accept either that Councillor Harrison did 
not see the comment or that he was too busy to deal with it/remove it/state that it was 
unacceptable etc. 
 

6.100 In interview, Councillor Harrison told us: 
 

“Councillor Green likes his own voice. 
 
…I actually called him the poet laureate, in full Council because he waxes 
lyrical with his one liner, the ‘jenga tower of myth’ was one of them that he 

44



V1 
Page 39 of 43 

created in this thing, I don’t really have any contact with him but he, after 
about 5 or 6 of these I wrote an email to him which I think Graham has also 
got … something along the lines of “Ben, you’re not a bad bloke, you’re a 
good Councillor, stop with this nonsense with all the theatrics it’s not needed”, 
“concentrate on doing your Council work, good luck, Tim” or words to that 
effect. 
 
So it’s a very friendly cordial email and he carries on and he deliberately baits 
us continuously calling us the rainbow alliance and stuff like that which you 
type rainbow alliance in any search engine and it comes up with the LGBTQ 
community anywhere, anywhere where you type that up that’s the first thing it 
comes up with, so we don’t kick off that he’s doing that, we don’t kick off and 
make formal complaints every single time he mentions that and it’s again this 
feigned indignance you know, that they’re doing and you’ve got to bear in 
mind Ben any comments I made on Ben’s page he was in charge of his page, 
he could of at any time blocked me from seeing his posts, he could of at any 
time block me from commenting on his posts the control was totally with him, 
I’ve got none of that. He deliberately left it open and deliberately put it and 
forward it so that it would come to our attention trying to enact, we’ve since got 
wise to his shenanigans and we just don’t engage with him anymore, it’s not 
worth our time and effort. 
 
… it’s a deliberate thing that they did at this point in time to try to get a reaction 
off us, and it got the reaction and didn’t like it that the public opinion went 
against him on most of them.” 

 
6.101 We consider that in sharing the ‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’ Facebook post 

Councillor Harrison intended to target and potentially frighten Councillor Green. 
 

6.102 We accept that Councillor Harrison was trying to make a political point about what he 
saw as Councillor Green’s “hypocrisy” but the sharing of the ‘Lincolnshire Against the 
Cull’ Facebook post, with Councillor Green’s image, and links to his address and 
phone number, were a step too far. Councillor Green was the personal target of the 
post, it attracted a death threat which the Police viewed as a serious issue, and 
Councillor Harrison refused to remove both the comment and the post. 
 

6.103 We therefore consider that Councillor Harrison’s conduct in sharing the ‘Lincolnshire 
Against the Cull’ Facebook post did cause him to breach paragraph 2.1 (Bullying) of 
the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 
Harassment 
 
6.104 The definition of harassment in the Code is set out above in paragraph 3.5. 

 
6.105 The LGA Guidance states: 

 
“The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 states that harassment includes 
behaviour which alarms a person or causes a person distress or puts people 
in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It 
can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and 
contact upon a victim in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or 
fear in any reasonable person. Harassment of any kind whether direct or 
indirect is in no-one’s interest and should not be tolerated. It is important to 
recognise the impact such behaviour can have on any individual experiencing 

45



V1 
Page 40 of 43 

it, as well as on the wider organisation in terms of morale and operational 
effectiveness. 
 
Like bullying, harassment can take the form of physical, verbal, and non-
verbal conduct but does not need to be related to protected characteristics. 
Harassment may be in person, by telephone or in writing, including emails, 
texts, or online communications such as social media. It may manifest 
obviously or be hidden or insidious. 
 
The factors likely to be considered when assessment allegations of 
harassment are whether the councillor knows or ought to know that their 
actions constitute harassment, whether a reasonable person would consider 
the actions to be harassment and the impact of the behaviour/conduct on 
victim. 
 
Examples of harassment include but are not limited to: 
 

• Sending unwelcome emails 

• Unnecessarily repetitive, intrusive questioning 

• Unwelcome physical contact such as touching or invading ‘personal 
space’ 

• Haranguing 

• Intimidation 

• Inappropriate remarks or questioning such as comments about 
someone’s appearance, lewd comments, and offensive jokes 

• Overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing 
someone from undertaking their role or following agreed policies and 
procedures 

• Inappropriate comments about someone’s performance 

• Placing unreasonable expectations on someone in relation to their job, 
responsibilities, or hours of work, or coercing someone to meet such 
expectations 

• Sexual harassment 
 

6.106 The LGA Guidance states that for conduct to be considered harassment it must, 
include behaviour which alarms, causes distress or puts people in fear of violence. It 
also states that it must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. 
 

6.107 Councillor Harrison’s sharing of the ‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’ post caused 
Councillor Green alarm and distress and put him in fear of violence following the 
comment made by a member of the public. However, it was a one off incident. The 
immediate consequences for Councillor Green, Councillor Jeal, Councillor Woolley 
and others, were difficult. However, we have found that Councillor Green’s other 
allegations did not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct by Councillor Harrison, 
so it cannot be said that, for this allegation, there was conduct which happened on at 
least two occasions. Therefore, we do not find that Councillor Harrison’s conduct 
amounted to harassment. 
 

Disrepute 
 
6.108 The definition of Disrepute in the Code is set out above in paragraph 3.5.  

 
6.109 The LGA Guidance states: 

 

46



V1 
Page 41 of 43 

“As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 
community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than 
that of ordinary members of the public. Article 10 of the European Convention 
on Human Rights protects your right to freedom of expression, and political 
speech as a councillor is given enhanced protection but this right is not 
unrestricted. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse 
impact on your role, other councillors and/or your local authority and may 
lower the public’s confidence in your ability to discharge your functions as a 
councillor or your local authority’s ability to discharge its functions. 
 
In general terms, disrepute can be defined as a lack of good reputation or 
respectability. In the context of the Code of Conduct, a councillor’s behaviour 
in office will bring their role into disrepute if the conduct could reasonably be 
regarded as either: 
 
1. reducing the public’s confidence in them being able to fulfil their role; 
or 
2. adversely affecting the reputation of your authority’s councillors, in 

being able to fulfil their role. 
 
Conduct by a councillor which could reasonably be regarded as reducing the 
public confidence in their local authority being able to fulfil its functions and 
duties will bring the authority into disrepute.” 
 

6.110 In applying the Code to the circumstances of an alleged breach of disrepute, it is 
established that it is not necessary for the member’s actions to have actually 
diminished the public confidence or harmed the reputation of the authority. The test is 
whether or not the conduct could ‘reasonably be regarded’ as having these effects. 
However, the conduct must be sufficient to damage the reputation of the member’s 
office of the Council, not just the reputation of Councillor Harrison as an individual. 
 

6.111 What must be considered here is to gauge an objective view. That is, whether the 
actions of Councillor Harrison were such that a member of the public, knowing all the 
relevant facts, would reasonably think that his actions were so significant that it would 
impact on the Council’s ability to properly carry out its functions. 
 

6.112 We have found that Councillor Harrison’s conduct in sharing the ‘Lincolnshire Against 
the Cull’ Facebook post was a breach of the Code of Conduct (Respect and bullying 
towards Councillor Green). While we understand that Councillor Harrison was trying 
to make a political point, the post was inappropriate, incited a threat of violence and 
involved the Police. Even if he could be said to have been initially ignorant of the 
impact that the post would have had, once he saw the comment by  
and/or as soon as he was contacted by the Police, Councillor Harrison should have 
removed the post. Instead, he, in effect, “doubled down” on the post, dismissed the 
comment as “flippant” and refused even to the Police to remove it. 
 

6.113 This is clearly not the standard of behaviour to be expected of a member of the 
Council who is also a member of the Administration and the Chair of Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 

6.114 We find that this is clearly conduct which could adversely affect the reputation of the 
Council in being able to discharge its functions. 
 

6.115 We also find that Councillor Harrison’s conduct was sufficient to damage his role as a 
councillor. 

47

Gill.Thompson_20
Typewritten text
member of public



V1 
Page 42 of 43 

 
6.116 We have therefore concluded that Councillor Harrison’s conduct in sharing the 

‘Lincolnshire Against the Cull’ Facebook post did cause him to breach paragraph 5 
(Disrepute) of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 
 

48



V1 
Page 43 of 43 

 
7. Finding 
 
7.1 Our conclusion is that Councillor Harrison has failed to comply with paragraphs 1 

(Respect), 2.1 (Bullying), and 5 (Disrepute) of the Council’s Code of Conduct in 
relation to the post about badger culling only. 
 

7.2 For the remainder of the complaint, we find that Councillor Harrison has not breached 
the Code of Conduct. 

 
 
 
 
Wilkin Chapman LLP 
Investigating Solicitors 
 
12 November 2024 
 
 
 

49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Report of an investigation by Wilkin Chapman LLP, appointed by the Monitoring Officer for 
South Kesteven District Council, into allegations concerning Councillor Tim Harrison. 
 
Dated: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VOLUME 2 
SCHEDULE OF EVIDENCE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cartergate House, 
26 Chantry Lane, 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 

a limited liability partnership registered in England number OC343261  
authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority 

Page 1 of 7651

Appendix B

Gill.Thompson_21
Typewritten text
12 November 2024



Appendix A 
 
Schedule of evidence taken into account and list of unused material 
 
 
 

 
Page 
 

 
Number 

 
Description 

 
3 

 
WC 1 

 

 
Code of Conduct 

 
16 

 
WC 2 

 

 
Complaint of Councillor Green 

 
29 

 
WC 3 

 

 
Complaint of Councillor Jeal 

 
31 

 
WC 4  

 

 
Complaint of Councillor Woolley 

 
32 

 
WC 5 

 
Decision Notice 
 

 
37 

 
WC 6 

 

 
Statement of Councillor Green 
 

 
41 
 

 
WC 7 

 

 
Statement of Councillor Jeal 

 
49 

 
WC 8 

 

 
Statement of Councillor Woolley 

 
53 
 

 
WC 9 

 

 
Interview Transcript – Councillor Harrison 

 
 

 
WC 10 

 

 
Correspondence with Councillor Harrison regarding the 
signing of his interview transcript 
 

 
List of unused material 
 

Investigator’s notes, file correspondence and drafts 

 

Page 2 of 7652

Gill.Thompson_22
Typewritten text
68



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
COUNCILLOR CODE OF CONDUCT 

 
(Adopted by South Kesteven District Council at Council on 25 November 2021) 

 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct 
 
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Councillor, in modelling 
the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and 
to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is 
also to protect you, the public, fellow Councillors, Local Authority Officers, and the 
reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 
all Councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 
Local Government Association encourages the use of support, training and 
mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the 
Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of Councillor and local 
government. 
 
General principles of councillor conduct 
 
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 
services, including ministers, civil servants, Councillors, and local authority officers; 
should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 
Principles. 
 
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 
specifically for the role of Councillor: 
 
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 
 

• I act with integrity and honesty 
• I act lawfully 
• I treat all persons fairly and with respect 
• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role 

of Councillor. 
 

In undertaking my role: 
 

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 
• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person 
• I avoid conflicts of interest 
• I exercise reasonable care and diligence 
• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my Local 

Authority’s requirements and in the public interest 

Page 3 of 7653

Gill.Thompson_23
Typewritten text
WC 1



Application of the Code of Conduct 
 
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 
acceptance of the office of Councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Councillor. 
 
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 
Councillor which may include when: 

• You misuse your position as a Councillor 
• Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Councillor 
 
The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 
 

• At face-to-face meetings 
• At online or telephone meetings 
• In written communication 
• In verbal communication 
• In non-verbal communication 
• In electronic and social media communication, posts, statements, and 

comments 
 
You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at 
all times when acting as a Councillor. 
 
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 
Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 
councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to 
the Monitoring Officer. 
 
Standards of councillor conduct 
 
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a Councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 
 
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 
should be followed. 
 
General Conduct 
 
1.  Respect 
 
As a councillor: 
 
1.1  I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
1.2  I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 
respect and respect the role they play. 

Page 4 of 7654



Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 
word. 
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 
Councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 
opinions, and policies in a robust but civil manner.  
 
You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to 
personal attack. 
 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 
Councillors. 
 
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 
of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 
any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 
authority, the relevant social media provider, or the police. This also applies to fellow 
councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 
and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 
authority’s councillor officer protocol. 
 
2.  Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 
As a councillor: 
 
2.1  I do not bully any person. 
 
2.2  I do not harass any person. 
 
2.3  I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person. 
 
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate, or injure the recipient. Bullying 
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face on 
social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 
events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 
 
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 
conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 
unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 
expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 
 
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

Page 5 of 7655



 
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a 
central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 
performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public 
commitment to equality across public services. 
 
3.  Impartiality of officers of the council 
 
As a councillor: 
 
3.1  I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 
 
Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a 
way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to 
understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 
content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 
to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 
would prejudice their professional integrity. 
 
4.  Confidentiality and access to information 
 
As a councillor: 
 
4.1  I do not disclose information: 
 

a) given to me in confidence by anyone 
b) acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

  aware, is of a confidential nature, unless: 
 

i.  I have received the consent of a person authorised to give 
it. 

ii.  I am required by law to do so. 
iii.  The disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third 
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other 
person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 
1.  reasonable and in the public interest; and 
2.  made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; and 
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its 

release. 
 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role 
as a Councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family 
members, my employer, or my business interests. 

 

Page 6 of 7656



4.3  I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to 
by law. 

 
Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 
printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 
required by law that discussions, documents, and other information relating to or 
held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples 
include personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing 
negotiations. 
 
5.  Disrepute 
 
As a councillor: 
 
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 
 
As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 
members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an 
adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower 
the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/its 
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 
bring your local authority into disrepute. 
 
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able 
to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 
undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code 
of Conduct. 
 
6.  Use of position 
 
As a councillor: 
 
6.1  I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage 

or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 
 
Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 
opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 
will impact others. 
 
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own 
or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 
 
 
7.  Use of local authority resources and facilities 
 
As a councillor: 
 
7.1  I do not misuse council resources. 

Page 7 of 7657



7.2  I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising 
their use by others: 

 
a)  act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 
b) ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to 
facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the 
local authority or of the office to which I have been elected or 
appointed. 

 
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 
in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 
 
Examples include: 

• Office support 
• Stationery 
• Equipment such as phones, and computers 
• Transport 
• Access and use of local authority buildings and rooms 
 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more 
effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be 
used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the 
local authority’s own policies regarding their use. 
 
8.  Complying with the Code of Conduct 
 
As a Councillor: 
 
8.1  I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 
 
8.2  I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 
 determination. 
 
8.3  I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be 
 involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 
 
8.4  I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I 
 have breached the Code of Conduct. 
 
It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for 
you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in 
the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned 
about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this 
with your Monitoring Officer. 
 
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 
 
 
 

Page 8 of 7658



9. Interests 
 
As a councillor: 
 
9.1  I register and disclose my interests. 
 
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. 
 
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 
fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  
 
The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 
arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 
a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 
whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 
you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 
important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 
you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 
confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 
 
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 
set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. 
If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 
 
 
10.  Gifts and hospitality 
 
As a councillor: 
 
10.1  I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable 
suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking 
to acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from 
persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission, 
licence, or other significant advantage. 

 
10.2  I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 
 

10.3  I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 
hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 7659



In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 
presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 
there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 
which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered.  
However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to 
your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is 
also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality 
associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your 
Monitoring Officer for guidance. 
 
Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 
 
The principles are: 
 
Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 
 
Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 
 
Objectivity 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 
 
Accountability 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 
 
Openness 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 
Honesty 
Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 
Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 
 
 
 
Appendix B – Registering interests 

Page 10 of 7660



 
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 
below. 
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 
 
1.  You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.  A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence 
or intimidation. 

 
3.  Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

 
Non participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
 
4.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion, or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you 
have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. 

 
5.  Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 

or is being considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and 
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Page 11 of 7661



 
6.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial 

interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in 
Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise 
must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 
 
7.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 

interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in 
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, 
you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members 
of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in 
the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 
 

a) Your own financial interest or well-being. 
b) A financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 
c) a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other 

Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2 
 

 
You must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied: 
 
 
9.  Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial 

interest or well-being: 
 

a) To a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority 
of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe 
that it would affect your view of the wider public interest 

 
 
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 
speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion or vote 
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 
dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 
 
10.  Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest 

on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 

Page 12 of 7662



member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring 
Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the 
matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
 
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 
 
Subject Description  

 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during 
the previous 12-month period for 
expenses incurred by him/her in 
carrying out his/her duties as a 
councillor, or towards his/her election 
expenses. This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union 
and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 
Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the 
council 
 
(a)  under which goods or services 
 are to be provided or works are 
 to be executed; and 
(b)  which has not been fully 
 discharged. 
 
 
 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 

Page 13 of 7663



within the area of the council. ‘Land’ 
excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which 
does not give the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the councillor is living as if 
they were spouses/civil partners (alone 
or jointly with another) a right to occupy 
or to receive income. 
 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge): 
 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b)  the tenant is a body that the 
 councillor, or his/her spouse or 
 civil partner or the person with 
 whom the councillor is living as 
 if they were spouses/civil 
 partners is a partner of or a 
 director* of or has a beneficial 
 interest in the securities* of 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where: 
 
(a)  that body (to the councillor’s 
 knowledge) has a place of 
 business or land in the area of 
 the council; and 
(b)  either: 
 (i) the total nominal value of 
  the securities* exceeds 
  £25,000 or one hundredth 
  of the total issued share 
  capital of that body; or 
 (ii) if the share capital of that 
  body is of more than one 
  class, the total nominal 
  value of the shares of any 
  one class in which the 
  councillor, or his/ her 
  spouse or civil partner or 
  the person with whom the 
  councillor is living as if 
  they were 

Page 14 of 7664



 
 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society. 
 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 
a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 
 
Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 
 
You must register as an Other Registerable Interest: 
 
a) any unpaid directorships 
 
b)  any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control 
 or management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your 
 authority 
 
c)  any body: 
 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 
 

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or 
 

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)  

 
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management 

 
 
 

Page 15 of 7665



1

 
 

From: Cllr Ben Green <Ben.Green@southkesteven.gov.uk>  
Sent: Saturday, March 2, 2024 5:28 PM 
To: Graham Watts <Graham.Watts@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Cc: Karen Bradford <Karen.Bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk>; Cllr Graham Jeal 
<graham.jeal@southkesteven.gov.uk>; Cllr Penny Milnes <penny.milnes@southkesteven.gov.uk>; Cllr Richard 
Dixon-Warren <Richard.Dixon-Warren@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: Councillor Tim Harrison Social Media Behaviour - Code of Conduct Complaint  
Importance: High 
Sensitivity: Confidential 
 
Dear Graham, 
 
It is with regret that I must bring to your attention behaviour, which I believe conclusively demonstrates 
harassment, exhibited by Councillor Tim Harrison on social media.  
 
Over the course of approximately one to two hours on 9 February, Cllr Harrison extensively combed my 
Facebook profile and proceeded to share multiple posts, accompanied with vitriolic attacks, to his own 
feed. To exacerbate matters, he went so far as to edit a video still of me, incorporating his own 
commentary. 
 

Page 16 of 7666

Gill.Thompson_24
Typewritten text
WC 2



Page 17 of 7667



Page 18 of 7668



Page 19 of 7669



Page 20 of 7670



Page 21 of 7671



Page 22 of 7672



8

 
More gravely, today, 2 March, Cllr Harrison incited local animal rights campaigners to bombard my email 
address and displayed mobile phone number because of my party affiliation. This is personal, disturbing 
and, to my mind, a wholly unacceptable breach of the Code of Conduct and Nolan Principles. I am minded 
to also log this incident with the Police. 
 

Page 23 of 7673



9

 
 
Taken together, I regard this body of evidence as a torrent of highly-personalised, intimidating and 
aggressive online behaviour that has significantly degraded the discourse. It also has strong potential to 
affect my wellbeing, mental and physical. I would appreciate your confirmation these incidents will inform 
an investigation into whether Cllr Harrison has, indeed, breached our Code of Conduct. 

Page 24 of 7674



10

 
Regards, 

Cllr Ben Green 

Isaac Newton Ward 

Page 25 of 7675



1

From:
Sent: 05 March 2024 16:46
To: Cllr Ben Green
Cc: Graham Watts
Subject: FW: Code of Conduct Complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison

Good afternoon Cllr Green 
 
Thank you for your further email, which will be reviewed by the Monitoring Officer as part of his enquiries.  
 
Kind regards 

South Kesteven District Council  
Council Offices, The Picture House 
St Catherine’s Road 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6TT 

 
 
 

From: Cllr Ben Green <Ben.Green@southkesteven.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, March 5, 2024 3:46 PM 
To: 
Subject: Re: Code of Conduct Complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison  
 

 
Further, it is important to note that, beyond the initial complaint, Cllr Harrison's incitement contributed to 
a death threat against me which was countered with a Fixed Penalty Notice. I reproduce that below. He 
also shared the link to the anti-cull post after being told it was offensive by the Police. He has admitted no 
responsibility nor contrition, which is distressing. 
 
At least two Parish Council meetings have been cancelled in my ward due to the specific threat which Cllr 
Harrison has promoted. 

Page 26 of 7676



2

 
 

 
Thank you, 

Cllr Ben Green 

Isaac Newton Ward 

Page 27 of 7677



3

From: Cllr Ben Green <Ben.Green@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 5, 2024 3:23 PM 
To: 
Subject: Re: Code of Conduct Complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison  
  
Thank you for your  formal acknowledgement of this, . I look forward to the outcome. 
 
Best regards, 

Cllr Ben Green 

Isaac Newton Ward 

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, March 5, 2024 1:52 PM 
To: Cllr Ben Green <Ben.Green@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: FW: Code of Conduct Complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison  
  
Good afternoon Cllr Green 
  
Re: Code of Conduct Complaint 
  
Please accept this email as acknowledgement of receipt of your recent complaint against Cllr Tim Harrison  
We have logged your complaint and will review the circumstances surrounding the complaint.   
We will come back to you with a response as soon as we can. In the meantime, we would appreciate your patience 
whilst we review the matter.  
  
We attach a copy of our Complaints Procedure for your information. 
  
Kind regards 

South Kesteven District Council  
Council Offices, The Picture House 
St Catherine’s Road 
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6TT 
Tel: 01476 406133 

  

Page 28 of 7678



1

From: Graham Watts <Graham.Watts@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Sent: 03 March 2024 19:30
To: Cllr Graham Jeal
Cc:
Subject: RE: Code of conduct complaint against cllr Tim Harrison

Good evening Councillor Jeal, 
 
Thank you for your complaint – a formal acknowledgement will be sent to you in due course. 
 
Regards 
Graham  
 
Graham WaƩs 
Assistant Director (Governance and Public ProtecƟon) and Monitoring Officer 
South Kesteven District Council,  
Council Offices, The Picture House,  
St Catherines Road, Grantham,  
Lincolnshire, NG31 6TT 
Tel: (01476) 406224 
Email: graham.waƩs@southkesteven.gov.uk 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

From: Cllr Graham Jeal <graham.jeal@southkesteven.gov.uk>  
Sent: Sunday, March 3, 2024 2:09 PM 
To: Graham Watts <Graham.Watts@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Cc: Cllr Ben Green <Ben.Green@southkesteven.gov.uk>; Cllr Penny Milnes <penny.milnes@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: Code of conduct complaint against cllr Tim Harrison 
 
Graham, 
 
I would like to place a code of conduct complaint against cllr Tim Harrison for the aƩached social media post. 
 
In accepƟng the role of councillor we all agree to follow the South Kesteven District Council Code of Conduct which 
incorporates the Nolan Principles. I believe that this post is in breach of all 7 of the 7 Nolan principles. Namely: 
 

  Selflessness: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 
This social media post is a clear incitement of hatred against a fellow councillor and an invitation for 
animal rights extremists to target a specific councillor. This is not in the public interest. 

  Integrity: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships. 

It is not clear whether cllr Harrison or members of his group have relationships to the given animal 
rights group. My understanding is that there is at least one member of his group that is a member of 

Page 29 of 7679

Gill.Thompson_25
Typewritten text
WC 3



2

the group he is promoting here in his attempt to get the general public to attack a member of the 
council.  

  Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on 
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  

IT is totally false to claim to make a public claim about cllr Green who has not made any position 
public on this matter – it is a deliberate slur on a councillor without any objective evidence. By 
placing a picture of cllr green and combining it with an annotated picture of his ward suggesting that 
the opinion that badgers will be “kil led here” has no evidence and is deliberately misleading. 

  Accountabil ity: Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and 
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

In supplying this false information in the public domain and then inviting member of the public to 
comment, cllr Harrison acted without accountability and recklessly bringing the authority into 
disrepute. As you know I made you aware that a death threat had been made towards cllr Green on 
the Saturday evening and I was encouraged to call the police. The police took this extremely 
seriously and issued a Fixed Penalty Notice to the person who placed the threat which was promoted 
by cllr Harrison. Cllr Harrison even after learning that a f ixed penalty notice had been issued failed 
to withdraw the totally false and deliberately provocative post. 

  Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful 
reasons for so doing. 

By posting false information without and evidence or discussion, cllr Harrison failed to act in a 
transparent manner. Indeed by doing this he behaved in a deceitful manner. 

  Honesty: Holders of public office should be truthful. 
The post and its inference that cllr Green has an opinion on the post is totally factually incorrect and 
dishonest. 

  Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. 
They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Cllr Harrison holds a leadership posiƟon within the council as chair of a commiƩee. He brings himself and the 
council into disrepute with this post, it is a clear and dangerous slur against a fellow council member, a direct aƩempt 
to inƟmidate another member from telling the truth about the failures of the administraƟon and a failure to promote 
and uphold the highest possible standards in public life. This is corroborated by the ongoing police invesƟgaƟon and 
the requirement for the police to issue a fixed penalty noƟce against at least one of the comments below the post 
that cllr Harrison promoted. 
 
 
I know you will aƩend this this urgently, I reserve the right to present a copy of this complaint to the press – but I am 
sure that you will understand that I consider this behavior unbecoming of a councillor and should be aƩended to 
immediately 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
Graham Jeal 
 
 

Page 30 of 7680



1

From: Graham Watts <Graham.Watts@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Sent: 03 March 2024 19:25
To: Cllr Sue Woolley
Cc:
Subject: RE: Code of Conduct complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison

Good evening Sue, 
 
Thank you very much for your complaint. You will receive a formal acknowledgment in due course.  
 
Kindest regards 
Graham  
 
Graham WaƩs 
Assistant Director (Governance and Public ProtecƟon) and Monitoring Officer 
South Kesteven District Council,  
Council Offices, The Picture House,  
St Catherines Road, Grantham,  
Lincolnshire, NG31 6TT 
Tel: (01476) 406224 
Email: graham.waƩs@southkesteven.gov.uk 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

From: Cllr Sue Woolley <sue.woolley@southkesteven.gov.uk>  
Sent: Sunday, March 3, 2024 12:21 PM 
To: Graham Watts <Graham.Watts@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: Code of Conduct complaint - Cllr Tim Harrison 
 
Dear Graham, over the weekend Cllr Tim Harrison has conducted a quite concentrated and vitriolic campaign against 
Cllr Ben Green, on social media. 
I was particularly disturbed to see a death threat made towards Cllr Green by a  on Cllr Harrisons 
FB account, which Cllr Harrison made no attempt to remove. I do not propose to list further examples, there are 
many and these can be forwarded if requested. 
I am most concerned that as a prominent chairman of one of the Council committees (Governance & Audit) Cllr 
Harrison appears not to be holding up the good name of the council. 
Regards 
Sue Woolley 
 
Sent from Outlook for iOS 

Page 31 of 7681

Gill.Thompson_26
Typewritten text
WC 4



 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

COMPLAINT AGAINST A DISTRICT COUNCILLOR  

MONITORING OFFICER ASSESSMENT DECISION NOTICE 

Subject Member: Councillor Tim Harrison    

Complainant: Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Woolley   

Date of Assessment: 21 March 2024 

 

Summary of complaints: 

 

Councillor Jeal submitted a complaint relating to a re-post published by Councillor 

Tim Harrison on his Facebook profile which he perceived as a clear incitement of 

hatred against a fellow Councillor and an invitation for animal rights extremists to 

target a specific Councillor. Councillor Jeal highlights the leadership position 

Councillor Harrison holds as Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee and 

believes he has brought himself and the Council into disrepute. Councillor Jeal also 

accuses Councillor Harrison of failing to promote and uphold the highest possible 

standards in public life, which is corroborated by the requirement for the Police to 

issue a fixed penalty notice against at least one of the comments associated with the 

post that Councillor Harrison promoted. 

 

Councillor Ben Green, linked with the above-mentioned post, submitted a complaint 

which he believes conclusively demonstrates harassment against him exhibited on 

social media by Councillor Harrison. Over the course of approximately one to two 

hours on 9 February, Councillor Harrison is accused of extensively combing 

Councillor Green’s Facebook profile, proceeding to share multiple posts 

accompanied with vitriolic attacks to his own feed. To exacerbate matters, he went 

so far as to edit a video still of Councillor Green, incorporating his own commentary. 

Councillor Green subsequently highlighted that Councillor Harrison’s incitement 

contributed to a death threat against him which was countered with a fixed penalty 

notice by the Police and also shared the link to the anti-cull post after being told it 

was offensive by the Police. Councillor Green highlighted his concern that Councillor 

Harrison has admitted no responsibility nor contrition, which he has found personally 

distressing.  

 

Councillor Sue Woolley submitted a complaint whereby she accuses Councillor 

Harrison of conducting quite a concentrated and vitriolic campaign against Councillor 

Green on social media. She was particularly disturbed to see what she perceived as 

being a death threat made towards Councillor Green by someone commenting on 

the Facebook post which Councillor Harrison made no attempt to remove.  

 

 

 

 

Page 32 of 7682

Gill.Thompson_27
Typewritten text
WC 5



 

 

Alleged breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct: 

 

The Subject Councillor is alleged to have breached the following aspects of the 

Nolan Principles contained within the Councillor Code of Conduct: 

 

- Selflessness 
- Integrity 
- Objectivity 
- Accountability 
- Openness  
- Honesty 
- Leadership 

 

Specifically, taking into account the context of the three complaints received, the 

following specific aspects of the Councillor Code of Conduct are alleged to have 

been breached:  

 

1. Respect 
 

As a councillor: 
 

1.1  I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
 

2.  Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 

As a councillor:  
 

2.1  I do not bully any person. 
 
2.2  I do not harass any person. 

 

5.  Disrepute 
 

As a councillor: 
 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 
 

Summary of response from the Subject Councillor: 

 

In respect of Councillor Green’s complaint associated with claims of ongoing 

harassment, the Subject Councillor questions why it has taken so long for him to 

complain if he had found it so upsetting. In relation to the re-post on his Facebook 

profile the original post was not his and he was highlighting the hypocrisy, adding 

that the post was all over Facebook and that the perpetrator of the ‘tongue in cheek’ 

comment which spooked him has been dealt with by the Police. The Subject 

Councillor is of the view that if Councillor Green does not want responses to his 

Facebook posts he should not make comments in the public domain.  

 

In response to Councillor Jeal’s and Woolley’s complaints, the Subject Councillor 

stated that he looked forward to a full and frank investigation.  

Page 33 of 7683



 

 

In discussing these complaints with the Subject Councillor he explained that the 

perceived threat to kill related to the word ‘cull’ in the comment that was posted, 

adding that there is more than one definition of the word cull and that he cannot be 

held account for someone else’s comment, as well as how other people interpret it.  

 

Information considered: 

 

I have reviewed the content of the complaints submitted by the three complainants, 
including screenshots of the social media posts referenced.  
 
I have reviewed the content of responses of the Subject Councillor to the allegations 
made against him by the three complainants.  
 
Assessment: 
 
Councillor Harrison was elected to the Council in May 2023. He is Deputy Leader of 
the Council’s Grantham Independent Group and Chairman of the Council’s 
Governance and Audit Committee. Councillor Harrison has attended Councillor Code 
of Conduct training since the commencement of this municipal year.  
 
Each of the posts referenced in the three complaints provide a clear link to the 
business of South Kesteven District Council. This demonstrates that the Subject 
Councillor is acting in an official capacity. The Councillor Code of Conduct was 
therefore engaged. 
 
The first assessment stage in the procedure for dealing with complaints against 
Councillors consists of a jurisdictional test. The complaint, taking the above 
information into account, complied with the principles of the jurisdictional test which 
meant it passed through to the second assessment stage. 
 
As part of the second assessment stage the following assessment was undertaken 
against the following criteria included in the procedure for dealing with complaints 
against Councillors: 
 
Sufficient evidence 
 
I am satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate whether or not a 
potential breach of the Code of Conduct occurred in respect of this complaint. 
Screenshots of the posts in question have been provided as part of the complaint.  
 
Alternative action 
 
I have given due consideration to alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should 
be explored first, including the possibility of informal resolution between the two 
parties and whether any offer from the Subject Councillor to settle the complaint 
informally is reasonable.  
 
The Subject Councillor refutes that a breach of Code of Conduct has occurred and 
that the complaint is vexatious in nature. In view of this, I do not consider there is any 
possibility of resolving the matter informally. 
 
 

Page 34 of 7684



 

 

Robust political debate 
 
Where a complaint is made by a Councillor against another Councillor, a greater 
allowance for robust political debate may be given, bearing in mind the right to 
freedom of speech. 
 
The complaints submitted have been made by other Councillors. I believe that further 
investigation of these complaints should be undertaken and take into account 
whether the greater tolerance for robust political debate applies, together with rights 
associated with freedom of expression set out in Article 10 of the Human Rights Act, 
in the context of the breaches of the Councillor Code of Conduct that have been 
alleged.   
 
Seriousness 
 
I have given due consideration as to whether the complaint is malicious, vexatious, 
politically motivated or ‘tit-for-tat’.  
 
Given the involvement of the Police in relation to part of the complaint and the 
issuing of the fixed penalty notice to a person commenting on the post re-published 
by Councillor Harrison, I believe the seriousness of this case is heightened. I do not 
believe the complaints have been submitted in a malicious or vexatious manner and 
do not consider them to be politically motivated or tit-for-tat.  
 
Public interest 
 
I have given due consideration as to whether it would be in the public interest to refer 
the complaint for investigation or other action and whether it is serious enough to 
warrant any available sanctions.  
 
In assessing the complaint, I did not feel it necessary to request further information 
from the complainants, Subject Councillor or any other witnesses.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Taking into account the above assessment, I believe there are sufficient grounds 
based upon the substance of the allegations made and the content of the respective 
complaints, in addition to the involvement of the Police, to refer these complaints for 
formal investigation.   
 
Independent Person considerations: 

 

The first Independent Person agrees that the Code of Conduct is engaged and that 

collectively, the boundary of freedom of speech has possibly been crossed. Given 

the context, the nature of the complaint and the level of seriousness, he believes that 

this unfortunately merits formal investigation.  

 

The second Independent Person agrees that there is substance to these complaints, 

which warrant further investigation.  

 

 

 

Page 35 of 7685



 

 

Monitoring Officer Decision: 

 

That the three complaints submitted by Councillor Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue 

Woolley against Councillor Tim Harrison, as outlined above, be referred for formal 

investigation.  

 

 

Graham Watts 

Monitoring Officer 

South Kesteven District Council  

 

Page 36 of 7686



Green, Jeal, Woolley v Harrison 
V2 

Page 1 of 4 

 

 
 
 
 

STATEMENT 
FRONT COVER 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 Name: Ben Green 
 
 Position Held Councillor 
                                          South Kesteven District Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cartergate House, 
26 Chantry Lane, 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 
a limited liability partnership registered in England number OC343261  

authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. 

Page 37 of 7687

Gill.Thompson_28
Typewritten text
WC 6



Green, Jeal, Woolley v Harrison 
V2 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 
 

STATEMENT of:- Councillor Ben Green 

 
 

1. I am a Conservative Councillor on South Kesteven District Council (the Council). I was first 

elected on 24 February 2022. I was re-elected on 4 May 2023. I represent the Isaac Newton 

Ward, a large rural ward south of Grantham. I sit on the Finance Committee. 

 

2. I understand that Wilkin Chapman LLP solicitors have been asked to investigate complaints 

made against Councillor Harrison in respect of his conduct on social media. I am aware that 

other Councillors have made Code of Conduct complaints against Councillor Harrison in 

relation to his conduct on social media.  

 

3. The Conservative Group on the Council are the largest group but not large enough for a 

majority. We have formed a coalition with three South Kesteven Independent councillors. 

There are multiple other parties and independents. My position is that of a back bench 

councillor, a member of the opposition. 

 

4. This statement is made in relation to my complaint against Councillor Harrison. He combed 

my social media over a period of 1-2 hours on 9 February 2024 and proceeded to share 

multiple posts to his own feed, accompanied with vitriolic attacks. Councillor Harrison went so 

far as to edit a video still of me, incorporating his own commentary. 

 

5. I am aware that two other councillors have made complaints against Councillor Harrison in a 

similar vein. 

 

6. I consider social media to be a vital mode of communication. From time to time, I will put out 

an occasional press release. Sometimes there is quite a time lag before a press release, and I 

have no editorial control. I think press releases are entered into a queue and it takes time to 

get your turn, so to speak. It can be a very long, convoluted and sometimes difficult process. 

So, for me, Facebook, the only social media platform I use, is a great way for me to 

communicate with my residents. 

 

7. Since late May, I have been Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group. There is an aspect to 

which we think about being in opposition and getting our distinctive message out. Being in 

opposition is inherently tough, you’re not the administration so don’t have responsibility and 

Page 38 of 7688



Green, Jeal, Woolley v Harrison 
V2 

Page 3 of 4 

 

your quotes aren’t going in official Council press releases. To try and compensate for that 

disadvantage I have used Facebook to communicate quickly and directly to residents to get 

our message across. 

 

8. First and foremost, it is about putting across a counter narrative. There is an expectation from 

the public that we hold the administration to account. It is important for democracy for rival 

opinions to be put across. It is something I feel my residents would expect me to do, I don’t 

believe they would feel I was doing a good job if I did not hold the administration to account. 

 

9. On 2 March 2024, accompanied by a picture of me and a picture of my ward with the wording 

“ALL BADGERS ARE TO BE KILLED HERE”, Councillor Harrison put the following post on 

Facebook: 

 

“This is Cllr Ben Green from the Conservative Party at South Kesteven District Council, 

he is the Cllr for the Isaac Newton Ward which sits to the south of Grantham. 

Cllr Greens entire ward sits within the badger cull zone, this zone is on an eradication 

zone, ALL badgers are to be killed, needlessly. 

Like most in his party, Cllr Green is a hypocrite when it comes to wildlife, he feels the 

wildlife of his ward is fair game (no pun intended) to be used in political arguments. We 

take particular offence at his pretending to care abut badgers, when his entire ward is 

in the current Lincolnshire cull zone and he takes no interest. Cllr Green has been 

totally silent and none engaging when it comes to the badger cull in Lincolnshire and 

indeed his ward, he has said literally NOTHING. 

 

In 2013 the cull was brought into existence, since then, 243,000 badgers have been 

slaughtered across England, people like Cllr green are guilty by association of this 

slaughter. Cllr Ben Green has remained very very quiet on this topic so we thought he 

should have his 5 minutes of fame. His contact details are below 

 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfor.aspx...  

 

We think Cllr Green is a disgrace and should apologise in using the deaths of animals 

in his ward as political pawn. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/councillorben/” 

 

10. I consider this post by Councillor Harrison incited local animal rights campaigners to bombard 

me, fundamentally as a response to the post I made on 2 March about the administration 

refusing to support wildlife near the A1. I personally did not see my phone number or email 

address within the post. However, with a picture of me in the post, if you were to do a search 

for my name you could access that information. 

 

Page 39 of 7689



Green, Jeal, Woolley v Harrison 
V2 

Page 4 of 4 

 

11. A member of the public commented on Councillor Harrison’s post: 

 

“What’s the chance of me culling this waste of space,I’m sure nobody would notice him 

missing from his ward.” 

 

12. This comment constituted a death threat against me resulting in a Fixed Penalty Notice being 

issued. 

 

13. After being told by the Police that his post was offensive, Councillor Harrison went to greater 

lengths to share the link to that post. 

 

14. Due to the specific threat against me, which Councillor Harrison promoted, the March Parish 

Council meeting at South Witham was cancelled and the March Parish Council meeting at 

Great Ponton was postponed. 

 

15. I am grateful that my personal address was not available, but I consider Councillor Harrison 

opened me up to what was credible danger. 

 

16. There was a long period where it was very clear that Councillor Harrison could not stomach 

any criticism of the administration whatsoever so tends to come down like a tonne of bricks on 

absolutely anything anybody says which is negative about the administration. However, 

Councillor Harrison’s behaviour appears to be obsessional in his criticism of me.  

 

17. I do not consider Councillor Harrison’s posts and comments about me on social media fall 

within the realm of political debate. They are attacks against me personally. 

 
 
 
 

 
I, Councillor Ben Green, declare that this statement is true 
and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
Signed ............................................Date ............................ 
 

 

12 July 2024

Page 40 of 7690



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 1 of 8 

 

 
 
 
 

STATEMENT 
FRONT COVER 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 Name: Graham Jeal 
 
 Position Held Councillor 
                                          South Kesteven District Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cartergate House, 
26 Chantry Lane, 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 
a limited liability partnership registered in England number OC343261  

authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. 

Page 41 of 7691

Gill.Thompson_29
Typewritten text
WC 7



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 2 of 8 

 

 

 
 

STATEMENT of:- Councillor Graham Jeal 
 
 
 
1. I am a Conservative Councillor for South Kesteven District Council (the Council). I am Leader 

of the Conservative Group. I am not formally a member of any of the Council’s Committees 

but, as Leader of the Conservative Group, I attend most Scrutiny Committee meetings. I 

represent Grantham St Vincents ward. 

 

2. I understand that Wilkin Chapman LLP solicitors have been asked to investigate my 

complaints against Councillor Harrison in respect of his conduct on social media. 

 

3. Councillor Harrison first came on my radar just prior to the 2023 election when he did a series 

of social media posts/comments making fun of  

 

4. Councillor Harrison and  so Councillor Harrison 

made a particularly venomous attack on him. Councillor Harrison shared and promoted videos 

online of  suggesting he was asleep in public meetings 

 – this caused enormous distress to  

 The level of viciousness was reserved for somebody who was 

clearly unwell. This was something I have never seen before in public office. 

 

5. Shortly after the election I did actually reach out to Councillor Harrison on a Governance and 

Audit issue in an attempt to help him. I have come to the view, clouded by his hounding of 

, that he is not fit for public service and unfit to hold a 

leadership position in the Council such as Chair of Governance and Audit. I believe such 

behaviour towards by Councillor Harrison contributed to the decline in 

 health. 

 

6. The relationship between the groups at the Council has been toxic and unprofessional for a 

long time, but it has gotten significantly worse since the last election. Swearing in the 

Chamber has become normalised over the last couple of years. Coming from a professional 

background I have always found that slightly difficult. Overnight, when Ashley Baxter was 

Page 42 of 7692



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 3 of 8 

 

elected leader, you could see all of the sensible people in the Council sort of pushed to one 

side and louder more antagonistic councillors now in control. 

 

7. The outcome of this behaviour deters people from the Council and is detrimental to getting 

officers to join the Council. There are good people on the Council and good officers but most 

of them now, frankly, are saying ‘I’ve got better things to do with my time’. I find myself 

thinking, what on earth have I signed myself up for? 

 

8. The small number of complaints being investigated are dwarfed; this is the absolute tip of the 

iceberg – there are dozens that have not made it to investigation. The Code of Conduct 

process is openly mocked now, and the fact that the behaviour is pushing good councillors 

away is a real threat to our local democracy and public service in general. 

 

9. This complaint stems from a Facebook post by Councillor Harrison on 2 March 2024. 

Councillor Harrison’s post contained an image of Councillor Green alongside an image of an 

area of Lincolnshire highlighted with the slogan, “ALL BADGERS ARE TO BE KILLED HERE”. 

Councillor Harrison’s post contained the words: 

 

“Lincolnshire Against the Cull 

 

This is Cllr Ben Green from the Conservative Party at South Kesteven District Council, 

he is the Cllr for the Isaac Newton Ward which sits to the south of Grantham. 

Cllr Greens entire ward sits within the badger cull zone, this zone is on an eradication 

zone, ALL badgers are to be killed, needlessly. 

Like most in his party, Cllr Green is a hypocrite when it comes to wildlife, he feels the 

wildlife of his ward is fair game (no pun intended) to be used in political arguments. We 

take particular offence at his pretending to care about badgers, when his entire ward is 

in the current Lincolnshire cull zone and he takes no interest. Cllr Green has been 

totally silent and none engaging when it comes to the badger cull in Lincolnshire and 

indeed his ward, he has said literally NOTHING. 

 

In 2013 the cull was brought into existence, since then, 243,000 badgers have been 

slaughtered across England, people like Cllr Green are guilty by association of this 

slaughter. Cllr Ben Green has remained very quiet on this topic so we thought he 

should have his 5 minutes of fame. His contact details are below 

 

Page 43 of 7693



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 4 of 8 

 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx... 

 

We think Cllr Green is a disgrace and should apologise in using the deaths of animals 

in his ward as political pawn. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/councillorben/”  

 

10. Councillor Harrison’s post attracted a comment from a member of the public which stated: 

 

“What’s the chance of me culling this waste of space,I’m sure nobody would notice him 

missing from his ward.” 

 

11. This is our own flavour of extremism in Lincolnshire – the animal rights and environmental 

lobby.  

 There are known animal rights 

protestors on the Council. Whilst I and others don’t necessarily take a position on their beliefs 

– we condemn their methods which are known to attack people and property. In my view, their 

methods set back the environmental and animal rights lobby. 

 

12. Nobody knows what Councillor Green’s opinion is . Councillor Green 

works for an environmental charity and  

 I don’t believe he is ever going to be public about his 

opinion on this. 

 

13. The aim of Councillor Harrison’s post, which was shared by Councillor Ellis, was to direct the 

local form of extremism to intimidate, hurt and threaten the property and person of Councillor 

Green. 

 

14. It was clear to me as soon as I saw this message and the activity of Councillors Harrison and 

Ellis that there was a clear safeguarding issue and a direct attack had been undertaken on a 

fellow councillor’s personal welfare. That weekend I spent hours and hours on the telephone 

with colleagues, the police and other authorities. 

 

15. On 2 March at 12:58 I took a 12-minute call from another councillor. 

 

16. At 14:47 there was a 40-minute call from Councillor Green, obviously quite afraid about this. 

Page 44 of 7694

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx
https://www.facebook.com/councillorben/


Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 5 of 8 

 

 

17. At 19:45 I took a call from Councillor Milnes. 

 

18. By this time, I had already called the police who had referred it to their extremist desk 

although it was a Saturday night and there may not be much of a response until Monday. 

 

19. Gareth Davies, our local MP, was informed and he, again, referred it to the police. 

 

20. At 21:30 the Chief Executive got in touch about death threats. 

 

21. At 21:31 the Monitoring Officer asked for an update on what was happening with regard to 

death threats. 

 

22. At 21:42 and 22:36 I again spoke to Councillor Green. By this time, I had concerns about his 

domestic arrangements. I asked Councillor Green if he would like to stay at my house. He 

said, ‘no, I’ll put a chair up against the door’. As the leader of a political group I had serious 

welfare considerations. 

 

23. On 3 March at 08:25 I took a call from Mark Jones, Police and Crime Commissioner, who said 

the matter would be referred to the Chief Constable. 

 

24. A couple of minutes later the Chief Executive was back on the phone. 

 

25. At 08:35 I took a 24-minute call from Councillor Green. 

 

26. At 09:00 Grantham Police called and said the matter had been escalated but there was 

unlikely to be much of a response until Monday morning. 

 

27. At 09:33 I took another call from Councillor Green. 

 

28. At 09:50 I spoke to Councillor Knowles. I asked what he thought about the death threats 

circulating by his administration 

 

29. At 10:17 I took a 51-minute call from Councillor Woolley. 

 

Page 45 of 7695



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 6 of 8 

 

30. At 16:08 I got the first of three calls from individuals in the Deepings who said how disgraceful 

they thought the behaviour was and it was being egged on by people in the Deepings. 

 

31. On 4 March at 08:12 the Police and Crime Commissioner called. He said he was going to 

raise the matter in his 9 am Monday morning meeting with the Chief Constable. 

 

32. At 11:19 I spoke again to Councillor Green. 

 

33. At 12:05 I spoke to the first of four people to call regarding their own fears. They were afraid to 

show up at the Council because they were afraid to walk from the parking lot across to the 

Council building. 

 

34. At 13:25 I got a call from a County Councillor who wanted to cancel all public meetings for that 

day. I said Councillor Green was due to be present at two parish council meetings that week. 

Both meetings were cancelled due to security considerations. 

 

35. At 13:38 I spoke to Grantham Police Special Point of Contact to discuss security on the 

building who said he would put in extra police presence. 

 

36. At 14:20 I spoke to Councillor Dixon-Warren, my deputy. 

 

37. At 14:59 I spoke to the Local Association Chairman. 

 

38. At 21:55 I spoke again with Councillor Green. He was angered by the fact he could not attend 

parish council meetings where he was doing a community governance review. 

 

39. What if someone had shown up at Councillor Green’s house and put a petrol bomb through 

his door? I take my welfare responsibility seriously. There are real world consequences of this 

threat of terrorism promoted by Councillor Harrison and . As this was being 

shared and promoted by Councillor Harrison and  it was unclear the extent to 

which this message had circulated. 

 

40. Councillor Green did actually tell me he had slept with a cricket bat by his bed and a chair up 

against the door. My thoughts were that this would probably be of little help against a 

concerted attack from a lone wolf unknown individual that  and Councillor 

Harrison were promoting this message towards. 

Page 46 of 7696



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 7 of 8 

 

 

41. Meetings were cancelled, people refused to show up for briefings. It was March, it was dark 

and one councillor was too afraid to walk from the parking lot to the Council building. 

 

42. On 21 March Councillor Harrison posted three short videos on Facebook. The videos were of 

Councillor Harrison and, I believe,  and another councillor, dressed as 

badgers running around Councillor Green’s ward looking for problems. 

 

43. Councillor Harrison’s post stated: 

 

“Well we try our hardest to do our best for our communities but it’s great when others 

help us check on other communities and find what’s wrong. Mr Badger recently sent us 

this issue in Woolsthorpe, thanks for that Mr Badger, that low sign looks very 

dangerous, but please be careful in that area as there is a badger cull in force.” 

 

44. It is my considered opinion that I don’t believe these people are fit for public service and 

certainly not for leadership positions in the Council. They bring members and South Kesteven 

District Council into disrepute by their actions. Councillor Harrison holds a leadership position 

as Chair of Governance and Audit. Historically that was one of the most respected positions. 

Before the last election, that position was held by the most experienced councillor. 

 

45. I said to previous Leader of the Council, Councillor Cleaver, that giving that role to Councillor 

Harrison was a really bad idea. I said that that role is one of the very few which talk straight to 

officers and oversees officers directly. I suggested they wanted to have somebody more 

experienced. Several members of the administration, including Cabinet members, have 

confided in me that I was proved right, but Councillor Harrison retains that leadership position 

even though it has been proved beyond all doubt that he is ethically unincumbered.  

 

46. Leadership is one of the Nolan Principles. I believe, in Councillor Harrison, we have 

somebody who is basically mocking the whole process. 

 

47. A fixed penalty notice was issued in respect of the death threat comment. Even after the 

police had been involved and, knowing the post was inflammatory, it was shared by both 

Councillor Harrison and twice by . The post remains live. This is a clear attempt 

at physical intimidation. 

 
 

Page 47 of 7697



Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints 
Cllr Jeal V2 

Page 8 of 8 

 

 
I, Councillor Graham Jeal, declare that this statement is true 
and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
Signed ............................................Date ............................ 
 

 

30 August 2024

Page 48 of 7698



V1 
Page 1 of 4 

 

 
 
 
 

STATEMENT 
FRONT COVER 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 Name: Sue Woolley 
 
 Position Held Councillor 
                                          South Kesteven District Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cartergate House, 
26 Chantry Lane, 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 
a limited liability partnership registered in England number OC343261  

authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. 

Page 49 of 7699

Gill.Thompson_30
Typewritten text
WC 8



V1 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 
 

STATEMENT of: Councillor Sue Woolley 

 
 
 

1. I am a Conservative Councillor on South Kesteven District Council (the Council). I represent 

Morton and Hanthorpe Ward which is near Bourne. I am also a Lincolnshire County 

Councillor. At national level I sit on the Local Government Association group for civility in 

public life. I sit on the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council. 

 

2. I understand that Wilkin Chapman LLP solicitors have been asked to investigate complaints 

made against Councillor Harrison in respect of his conduct on social media. I am aware that 

other Councillors have also made Code of Conduct complaints against Councillor Harrison, 

again in relation to his conduct on social media.  

 
3. Councillor Green is a colleague in the same political party as myself. I have a good working 

relationship with him and count him as a close colleague from the point of view that I enjoy his 

company and think that from an integrity point of view he has a very high threshold. I consider 

him a trustworthy and reasonable individual. 

 
4. I don’t know Councillor Harrison as well as I know Councillor Green. Councillor Harrison was 

elected in 2021 so is a fairly new district councillor. He is Chairman of the Audit and 

Governance Committee which I sit on but other than that I don’t really have any other 

interaction with him. 

 
5. The ward I represent is about 20 miles away from Grantham and so I only tend to interact with 

the members of other political groups in Council settings. I don’t really have an awful lot to do 

with councillors in the Grantham area as it is quite a distance from my ward.  

 
6. I am not aware of any animosity between the various political groups when in Council 

meetings.  If there is a disagreement then that occasionally plays out on individual terms but 

to me there is no ongoing undercurrent. 

 
7. Prior to the last election there was a large majority of one particular political party. When that 

changed there was obvious animosity towards the coalition which played out in public but 

more than 12 months on people have generally learnt to be a little more careful with the 

language they use. It was a little bit rocky to start with but things have settled down. 

 

Page 50 of 76100



V1 
Page 3 of 4 

 

8. A picture of Councillor Green alongside a map containing the words, “ALL BADGERS ARE 

TO BE KILLED HERE” was posted by Councillor Harrison with the following: 

 
“This is Cllr Ben Green from the Conservative Party at South Kesteven District Council, 
he is the Cllr for the Isaac Newton Ward which sits to the south of Grantham. 
Cllr Greens entire ward sits within the badger cull zone, this zone is on an eradication 
zone, ALL badgers are to be killed, needlessly. 
Like most in his party, Cllr Green is a hypocrite when it comes to wildlife, he feels the 
wildlife of his ward is fair game (no pun intended) to be used in political arguments. We 
take particular offence at his pretending to care about badgers, when his entire ward is 
in the current Lincolnshire cull zone and he takes no interest. Cllr Green has been 
totally silent and none engaging when it comes to the badger cull in Lincolnshire and 
indeed his ward, he has said literally NOTHING> 
 
In 2013 the cull was brought into existence, since then, 243,000 badgers have been 
slaughtered across England, people like Cllr green are guilty by association of this 
slaughter. Cllr Ben Green has remained very very quiet on this topic so we thought he 
should have his 5 minutes of fame. His contact details are below 
 
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx... 
 
We think Cllr Green is a disgrace and should apologise in using the deaths of animals 
in his ward as political pawn. 
 
https://www.facebook.com.councillorben/”  

 

9. At the time I submitted my complaint, Councillor Harrison and a number of other councillors 

who I think were Independent and members of the public, predominantly from the Grantham 

area, really did criticise Councillor Green. 

 
10. It felt like anything Councillor Green put on social media there were others looking to find 

another angle. I did not like the language used, it was unpleasant. 

 
11. Councillor Green felt more should be done about the litter at either side of the A1 which runs 

through our district. The Council is ultimately responsible for some of that litter being removed 

so he was putting things on Facebook, and I think it was picked up by the media as well. 

 
12. To remove any amount of rubbish will cost a phenomenal amount of money and so every 

organisation tends to pass the buck a little bit where money or responsibilities are concerned. 

This was a good example of deciding ultimately who should be dealing with it and all the time 

the matter was getting worse. 

 
13. Councillor Green flagged the issue up, not everybody agreed with him. If I had felt his posts 

unreasonable I would have pulled him up on it but would have spoken to him privately, I would 

not have done it via social media. 

Page 51 of 76101



V1 
Page 4 of 4 

 

 

 

14. A member of the public commented on Councillor Harrison’s post to say: 

 

“What’s the chance of me culling this waste of space,I’m sure nobody would notice him 

missing from his ward.” 

 

15. To me this felt like intimidation and incitement. 

 

16. What I found really, really disappointing was that Councillor Harrison did not respond to that 

comment to say it was completely unacceptable, nor did he take the comment down. I felt 

things had got a little bit too far. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
I Councillor Sue Woolley declare that this statement is true 
and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
Signed ............................................Date ............................ 
 

 

17 July 2024

Page 52 of 76102



Page 1 of 15 
 

South Kesteven District Council          Date of Interview: 16.07.2024 

 

Interview Transcript – Councillor Harrison 

 

TH - Councillor Tim Harrison 

EC - Estelle Culligan  

GT -  Gill Thompson 

 

 

EC: So, that is the recording which has started, and I can see that, yes, it’s coming up with 

my speech. So, thank you very much Councillor Harrison for joining us this afternoon, 

if we could just introduce ourselves, I am Estelle Culligan and I am a Partner in the 

Regulatory team. 

 

GT: I’m Gill Thompson and I’m a Regulatory Executive in the Regulatory team.  

 

TH: And I’m Tim Harrison District Councillor for South Kesteven St Wulfram’s Ward. 

 

EC: Thanks very much everybody.  So, Councillor Harrison if we just start off with some 

general questions about your background with the Council I believe you were first 

elected in May 2023 is that right? 

 

TH: Yep.  

 

EC: You hadn’t been a Councillor there before? 

 

TH: No.  

 

EC: Okay, thank you.  And you represent the is it the St Wulfram’s Ward? 

 

TH: It is yeah.  

 

EC: Yeah.  And can you explain to us if you can remember them all which committees you 

sit on and if you are chair of any committees.  

 

TH: I sit on 11 different committees I’d be struggling to remember them all…. 

 

EC: Oh gosh. 

 

TH: Erm, Chairman of Governance and Audit.  

 

EC: Right, okay, okay.  Erm, and just thinking about the training that you’ve undertaken 

since you became a Councillor there is some listed on your website but it doesn’t 

mention on, on the Council’s website but it doesn’t mention code of conduct training, 

have you …. 

 

TH: Yeah, I did code of conduct training as well, yeah. 

 

EC: Right, okay, thank you.   Do you remember when that was? 

 

TH: Erm no I wouldn’t I don’t I’d have to go to Dem Services to find that out. 

Page 53 of 76103

Gill.Thompson_31
Typewritten text
WC 9



Page 2 of 15 
 

 

EC: But it was part of the package of training that you had.. 

 

TH: Yeah. 

 

EC: As a new Councillor? Do you remember whether that covered dealing dealings on 

social media? 

 

TH: It did yes.  

 

EC: Right, okay, thanks very much.  Erm, that’s great.  So just moving on to the specific 

issues of the complaints and we’ll take them in turn, erm, and if you’re confused at any 

point then we can sort of slow down and I can point you to what we are talking about 

because there is a lot and there’s a lot of different posts and a, err, you know, a lot of 

different comments and that sort of thing, so  

 

TEXT IRRELEVANT TO THIS COMPLAINT HAS BEEN REMOVED. 

 

TH: … I got, in the space of 24 hours, maybe, maybe say 48 hours, I think I got something 

like 78 emails all pertaining to this issue, so in the end…. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….I got very aeriated with, with erm Mr Watts, and I said look please stop engaging 

with me in this, deal with it as you see fit, I’m not going to, I haven’t got the in, time, or 

the inclination to waste on it.  I was away on a very important meeting, meeting um, 

err, Burgermeisters in, in Germany, erm, and I was getting pestered constantly with 

these emails pinging through…. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….about this sort of stuff and I said to Graham then, deal with it as you see fit Graham.  

I’ve, I’ve, I’ve got not further response, I don’t really want to engage with it, I think it’s 

all nonsense my own personal point, I said you tell me before I personally think it’s 

vexatious where 28, comp…. it’s 26 different complaints came through to me, at, all, 

I’m told in the end.  26 different complaints in the short period of time, tell me when 

that’s ever happened before, and not been seen as vexatious?  Now…. 

 

EC: Yep. 

 

TH: ….the problem with the Tories as, is because I’m a, I’m my own man, I speak my own 

mind, and I call things as they are, they don’t like it …. 

 

EC: Yes. 

 

TH: ….and they don’t like being erm outshone on social media…. 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: ….but as I said to Graham Watts, what, what perplexes me is this has come to you.  I 

said to Graham Watts I’m perfectly happy for you Graham to say yeah we find against 

Page 54 of 76104



Page 3 of 15 
 

him on all these and I won’t even fight it with you, you can go against me, you can put 

me black marks against me err, as a Councillor, because ultimately there is nothing 

really more that can be done, 

 

EC: Yes. 

 

TH: ….um, so do that, I won’t fight against it, we’ll save the Council some money as in, 

because you, you guys are going to be costing us money, quite clearly…. 

 

EC: Yes.  

 

TH: ….I said we’ll save a lot of money and everybody will be happy.  The Tories will have 

their bit, they’ll have their black mark against me, erm, jobs done, and everybody’s 

happy, but no, it’s got passed on to you and I don’t see why that is really.  I can’t, when 

I’ve said to Graham I’ll happily not contest your decision.   So the whole thing…. 

 

EC: The problem, yeah, the difficulty, the difficulty for Graham is that under your, under the 

arrangements and under the localism act it’s, it’s difficult to make a finding on some of 

these things without going through a more thorough investigation, it’s, he can’t on 

everything make, make a decision, that’s the difficulty, so that’s why he’s constrained 

to put some of these things through, if he thinks they’re serious enough to a further 

investigation, so that, erm, I mean you may say oh I wouldn’t contest it but others, err, 

you know if he starts doing that for one person then he can’t necessarily do that for 

everybody for other complaints that come through against other people, so there is a 

process unfortunately, and that’s the process that he’s, he’s got to go through, so that’s 

why we are where we are today. 

 

TH: Right.  

 

EC: Erm…. 

 

TH: Which is pretty much what Graham said, he said he’s got a process to go through but 

I, I still don’t quite understand it, but fair enough, if that’s what we’ve got to do, that’s 

what we’ve got to do. 

 

EC: Yeah, and we are dealing with it as swiftly as we can aren’t we Gill?  Erm, so, erm, 

thank you very much for that. So if we move on Councillor Harrison  

 

TEXT IRRELEVANT TO THIS COMPLAINT HAS BEEN REMOVED 

 

EC: …  So these are complaints by Councillor’s Green, Jeal and Woolley about the badger 

culling comments. 

 

TH: Yeah. 

 

EC: Erm, first of all just, we’ve asked you about your relationship with Councillor Jeal can 

you tell us about your relationship, if any, with Councillor Green.  

 

TH: Erm, Councillor Green erm, likes his own voice.  

 

EC: Yep.  

Page 55 of 76105



Page 4 of 15 
 

 

TH: Erm, he’s very erm, I actually called him the poet laureate in, in full Council because 

he waxes lyrical with his one liner, ‘the jenga tower of myth’ was one of them that he 

created in his thing, erm, I don’t really have any erm contact with him but he, after 

about 5 or 6 of these I wrote an email to him which I think Graham has also got, I don’t 

know whether he has forwarded that on to you going, something along the lines of 

“Ben, you’re, you’re not a bad bloke, you’re a good Councillor, stop with this nonsense 

with all the, the theatrics, it’s, it’s not needed” erm, you know, “concentrate on doing 

your Council work, good luck, Tim” or words to that effect.  

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: So it’s a very friendly cordial email, and he carries on and he deliberately baits erm us 

continualist, continuously calling us the rainbow alliance and stuff like that which you 

type rainbow alliance in in any search engine and it comes up with the erm LGBTQ 

community anywhere, anywhere where you type that up that’s the first thing it comes 

up with, so we don’t kick off that he’s doing that, we don’t kick off and make formal 

complaints every single time he mentions that erm, and it’s again it’s this feigned 

indignance you know…. 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: …that’s, that they’re doing and you’ve got to bear in mind Ben any comments I made 

on Ben’s page he was in charge of his page, he could of at any time blocked me from 

seeing his posts, he could of at any time block me from commenting on his posts, erm, 

the control was totally with him, I’ve got none of that.  He deliberately left it open and 

deliberately put it and forward it so that it would come to our attention trying to enact a, 

we’ve since got wise to his, his erm shenanigans and we just don’t engage with him 

anymore, it’s not worth our time or effort. 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: But it was, it’s a deliberate thing that they did at this point in time to try to get a reaction 

off us, erm, and it got the reaction and didn’t like it that the public opinion went against 

him on most of them.  

 

EC: Yeah.  Okay, that’s helpful, and what about any relationship with Councillor Woolley? 

 

TH: Err. 

 

EC: …do you have any dealings with her?  

 

TH: Councillor Woolley is on my committee, no feelings one way or the other about 

Councillor Woolley, she’s pretty adept at what she does erm, I’ve no…. 

 

EC: No, no particular views or anything?  

 

TH: No, no.  

 

EC: Fine.  Okay, that’s great, thank you.  So the complaint from Councillor Green, err, this 

is to do with the badger culling comments.  First of all, err, he said that over 

Page 56 of 76106



Page 5 of 15 
 

approximately 1 – 2 hours on the 9th February this year, you combed, this is his words, 

you combed his Facebook profile and shared multiple posts to your own account 

accompanied by what he says are vitriolic attacks and that you went so far as to edit a 

video still of him putting in your own commentary, err, so the first question was did you 

do that, and, and, and why you did that if you did that?  

 

TH: I didn’t.  And it wasn’t done by me, it was done by another Councillor.  

 

EC: Right.  In your group or, or in your….. 

 

TH: Erm, yes.  

 

EC: Right.  

 

TH: It was done by another Councillor in our group and erm we didn’t alter the video at all, 

it was a screenshot from the video with some words added on to it.  

 

EC: What like comments under the, in the bottom.. 

 

TH: It was erm, so it was a screenshot of him in his video, on a bridge, going on about the 

rubbish on the A1 and we deli, we just put above it the comments yes look at all that 

rubbish in the two laybys behind me… 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: …but there wasn’t any.  

 

EC: Yeah yeah.  

 

TH: That’s all it was.  

 

EC: Okay.  

 

GT: Can I just ask you Councillor Harrison, sorry to butt in, was it you that shared the post 

to your Facebook page or…  

 

TH: I put the…. 

 

GT: …did you send it… 

 

TH: I put the, I, I, I didn’t, I didn’t alter that and I’ve got proof of that cos we’ve….  

 

GT: Yeah.  

 

TH: ….we’ve still got it in the chats of who actually did that.  I don’t want to mention who 

did it…. 

 

GT: No. 

 

TH: I’ll take it on the chin, you can blame me, but it wasn’t me.  So…. 

 

Page 57 of 76107



Page 6 of 15 
 

EC: Somebody, somebody…. 

 

TH: So, to claim that I did it is….. 

 

EC: …yeah.  

 

TH: ….is wrong…. 

 

EC: …so somebody… 

 

TH: ….I, I published it on my Facebook.  

 

EC: …you published it on your Facebook page.  

 

GT: Yeah.  

 

EC: So somebody else lifted, and there were other posts as well, somebody else lifted 

them, somebody else put the comment on the screenshot, and then you posted them 

on your Facebook page?  

 

TH: Yeah, yeah.   

 

EC: Right, okay.   Erm, so why did you do that? 

 

TH: Because I wanted to highlight again, so this is the same 60,000 pounds that they’d 

argued again, to get…. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….in the budget, thinking they wouldn’t win it, won it…. 

 

EC: Yes. 

 

TH: …and then voted against the budget and then not 2 days later he’s shouting about how 

he’s done this to say, now, again, if you, if you were known, known, in the Council, if 

you knew about the Council and everything else 60,000 pounds will clean nothing of 

the A1.   

 

EC: Yes, yeah. 

 

TH: It’s, it’s a total nonsense.  They were trying to make a point, they were trying to get a 

point that they didn’t, they only wanted the soundbites, they didn’t want to actually get 

the result.  They got the result and then thought oh, what do we do now.  We didn’t 

want this, because that now means we’ve got to vote, vote against the budget, which 

we didn’t want, oh, and now we look really silly.  So I am highlighting that Councillor’s 

are out there wasting the public’s money by spending time debating all this stuff that 

they actually don’t even believe in themselves… 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

Page 58 of 76108



Page 7 of 15 
 

TH: …and didn’t really want.  You know?  So, and it’s important.  I got elected on being 

transparent to, to the people who voted for me and that’s what I will continue to do at 

all times, and if it, if it gets me in trouble I will continue to do it, and if I, I,  I won’t engage 

with these two anymore, erm, it became apparent that the only traction Councillor 

Green was getting on his post was when I commented on it.  I’ve got a large Facebook 

following, so the only time that Councillor Green got any traction on his post seemed 

to be when I made a comment or if I shared his post, so I thought the easiest way to 

do this is let the man drown in his own echo chamber and stop commenting on it…. 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: which is what we’ve done since.  

 

EC: Right okay.  Is this since that since this complaint came, since these complaints came 

in or…. 

 

TH: Erm, it was about a week or two after this, we just decided you know what, he, the only 

time he’s getting any credence is, is when one of us chips in and says something, so, 

erm, as, as where I was highlighting falsehoods and erm, idiosyncrasies that the Tory 

party had erm done, I thought well nobody’ll know about that if I, if I don’t highlight it.  

 

EC: I understand.  

 

TH: Because he’s, he’s got a very minimal outreach, so I thought…. 

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: ….the best way for me is just not to do it anymore.  

 

EC: Have things been a bit calmer since you adopted that approach?  

 

TH: Erm….  

 

EC: Generally?  

 

TH: I don’t have anything to do with them. 

 

EC: Right, okay.  

 

TH: There’s a, there’s a few Councillors now and myself and erm, err 3 or 4 other Town 

Councillors have all made it clear to Graham Watts that we do not, we’ve said to them, 

please make sure that they know not to interact with us, we don’t want to interact with 

them.  You know.  

 

EC: So how does that work with you…. 

 

TH: ….because…. 

 

TEXT IRRELEVANT TO THIS COMPLAINT HAS BEEN REMOVED 

 

Page 59 of 76109



Page 8 of 15 
 

EC: Okay, alright thank you, I understand.  So, then moving on to the next complaint from 

Councillor Green which was to do with this post and I think it was you shared a post 

that link a group called Lincolnshire Against the Cull had post, I think they’re the group, 

and you shared it I think erm, on your, on your I think, on your Facebook page again? 

 

TH: I did yeah… 

 

EC: Yeah… 

 

TH: Yeah. 

 

EC: An image of Councillor Green alongside a Lincoln, err, an image of the area of 

Lincolnshire with the words ‘all badgers are to be killed here’, and then your post was 

Lincolnshire against the Cull and it was what they’d said, this is Councillor Ben Green 

from the Conversative Party err, Councillor Green’s entire Ward sits within the badger 

cull zone, this zone is on an eradication zone all badgers are to be killed needlessly 

etc, I won’t read out the whole post. 

 

TH: Yeah, yeah. 

 

EC: Erm, and then there, erm, then there’s further information about the cull, then there’s a 

link to something on on the South Kesteven website, err, modgov, and then they say 

we think Councill Green is a disgrace and should apologise in using the deaths of 

animals in his Ward as a polit, as political pawn, and a member of the public 

commented “what’s the chance of me culling this waste of space, I’m sure nobody 

would notice him missing from his ward.  Erm, so, he complained about that, and I 

understand that there was, there was a Police follow up wasn’t there, and somebody 

was issued with a fixed penalty notice I believe, about the commentary?  

 

TH: Yeah, they were, and unfortunately the guy who was issue, issued with a fixed penalty 

notice I erm, if I’d have got to him first he wouldn’t have got that fixed penalty notice 

because I would have told him to “no, and go court” because as I went, the Police also 

rang me right…. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: …so I recently I’ve been burgled right, this is the irony in this, recently I’ve been 

burgled, and it took the Police 6 weeks to turn out to my house.  Somebody puts, gets 

offended by a Facebook post the Police not only call at my house they call at my office 

at work, they then … 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: …ring me to chase this up within hours, so the irony is where a burglary somebody 

can’t come out for 6 weeks, but erm, a hurty Facebook post they’re out within 3 hours, 

so, I then said to the Policeman, I said why are you ringing me?  He said well this, err 

somebody’s put this comment on your post, I said yeah, why are you ringing me?  So 

he said, well, will you remove this post so I said no.  I said I don’t erm censor what 

people say to me on my post, I said, and you, you, you’re using the word cull I said, 

and I, and I went on my phone while I was talking to him and I said right here now, are 

you going to go down now and issue the BBC with a penalty because they’re culling 

Page 60 of 76110



Page 9 of 15 
 

their staff, so err, erm, the Virgin Media were culling, culling their staff.  I said there’s, 

there’s meanings on the word cull, and you’ve picked on this poor guy, frightened the 

life out of him, this guy if you actually go to his Facebook is an . All he 

does is, is, is, is make money for the , erm, and, and if you go on his Facebook 

you will see pictures of  that he, he, it was a flippant 

comment, maybe in bad taste I, I agree, erm, was it offensive? was it a death threat? 

No.  Ridiculous, and, and looking at the guys post and the actual demeanour of the 

guy will, will tell you that it was no way was it a death threat. They then went totally 

overboard on this, I mean the original reason for me posting this is because as you will 

see Councillor Ben Green, is erm, (coughs) decrying us Independents as not caring 

about wildlife…. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….because we didn’t wanna do the A1, but then allowing and permitting a 100% cull 

of badgers in his ward. 

 

EC: Yep.  

 

TH: Erm, so I was highlighting again the hypocrisy of, of what this Councillor was saying.  

Again, a transparency to the people who voted me in. The fact that erm, this gentleman 

made a comment unfortunate, flippant, death threat? Definitely not.  Erm, they knew it 

wasn’t a death threat there were no follow up death threats as, has he err, attempted 

to make, he wasn’t living in a safehouse which were checked on erm, he wasn’t 

sleeping with a baseball bat under his bed, which erm, he made claims to, and only a 

few days later he’s running up and down the A1 laughing his head off, showing exactly 

where he is, sounding an airhorn, breaking the law, sounding an airhorn at the side of 

the A1… 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: …umm, so this is the sort of guy that we are dealing with here, you know, this feigned 

indignance, this feigned erm, cost again at the Council of a lot of money because 

Councillor Jeal then insisted that we had security guards for a number of weeks 

working at the Council offices for this, erm, yes, the, the comment a flippant comment, 

in hindsight he shouldn’t have made it, erm, but he did, and he got fined for it and he 

removed it and it was removed straight away. The Police made him remove it at the 

time.  

 

EC: I suppose that, I suppose the problem is I mean when I read, when I read this erm, the 

problem is you talk about you know the meaning of the word cull and BBC culling their 

staff, and you use the word cull in various different circumstances but, you know 

everybody knows that there can be quite a lot of violence around animal activism and 

that sort of thing. So when you read this post and the, the, the thing that you posted on 

your, on your Facebook page and that comment together, you know I look at it and I 

can see why if you were the subject of that you would be concerned…. 

 

TH: Hmm. 

 

Page 61 of 76111



Page 10 of 15 
 

EC: …even though you say oh well it was meant flippantly and the comment you can see 

from the guys profile he’s and  supporter, blah, blah, blah.  I mean, people can be 

 supporters and can still be…. 

 

TH: Say this, say this had happened to me… 

 

EC: ….you know you can…(laughs) 

 

TH: …yeah, say this had happened to me… 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: …. I would have contacted Ben Green and gone do you know this Mr Bloggs, or 

whoever… 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….who’s made this threat to, to kill me, you known anything about him?  Is it, is it 

something I’ve got to take seriously?  I would have acted like an adult, rather than this 

feigned indignance that, is, is evident throughout all of these complaints, erm, before 

I’ve gone on and caused all the furore that he caused. So, again… 

 

EC: Yeah, the thing… 

 

EC: ….the thing, the thing is Councillor Harrison, again this goes back to our earlier 

comment, this is how you would react,  

 

TH: Ehem….. 

 

EC: …but other people might react differently….. 

 

TH: …yeah, yeah….. 

 

EC: …..and, and, and Councillor Green for whatever reason has reacted in this way, erm, 

so, you know this is the point of the issue of treating each other…. 

 

TH: …but his, but his complaint is…. 

 

EC: ….with respect under the Code of Conduct, yeah.. 

 

TH: ….his, his complaint is that I incited violence against him.  I didn’t. At no point… 

 

EC: But.  

 

TH: ….nothing.. 

 

EC: ..Yeah. 

 

TH: ….nothing, on that post incited any violence.  

 

Page 62 of 76112



Page 11 of 15 
 

EC: So, do you know anything about this group Lincolnshire Against the Cull?  Do you know 

anything about them?  

 

TH: Nothing at all. 

 

EC: Right okay. 

 

TH: Nothing at all. 

 

EC:  So, you just found their post and then reposted it on your site? 

 

TH: Yeah. 

 

EC: So how did you find their post if you know nothing about them…. 

 

TH: It came up on my Facebook feed.  

 

EC: Right. So do you…. 

 

TH: I’ve got a…. 

 

EC: …do you follow…. 

 

TH: ….quite a large following on Facebook and…. 

 

EC: Right okay… 

 

TH: …and I get such a lot of stuff that comes up on Facebook.   

 

EC: Okay.  Alright then.  Erm, what else was I gonna ask you on this?  Oh, yes.  Just another 

question.  So he says that because, you mentioned the security, he did say because 

of the post he requested additional security at Council meetings, he also says that 

because of your post a March Parish Council meeting at South Witham was cancelled 

and the March Parish Council meeting at Great Ponton was postponed.  Did you know 

about that?  

 

TH: No.  

 

EC: No.   

 

TH: No. 

 

EC: Right that, that’s, I mean that’s what he said but, you know… 

 

TH: I can’t comment.  I don’t know.  

 

EC: Okay.   Alright then.  Erm.  So my last question was do you consider that your post 

opened Councillor Green up to any danger?  

 

TH: No.  

 

Page 63 of 76113



Page 12 of 15 
 

EC: Right, okay.  

 

TH: I…. 

 

EC: Fine. 

 

TH: ….I personally don’t think it did. No.  

 

EC: Right.  Okay, thank you very much.   So, err, and again we may have covered,  so 

Councillor Jeal and Councillor Woolley also complained about the post, and then just 

briefly, Councillor Jeal says that your post was a clear incitement to hatred against 

Councillor Green inviting animal rights extremists to target him. 

 

TH: Where…. 

 

EC: Erm. 

 

TH: ….where, where is there anything on there where I’ve invited anybody to target him? 

 

EC: Well, this is just his comment.. 

 

TH: I’m making, I’m making compar, well, I’m not, I’m not even making comparisons. 

Somebody else made the comparisons, so, even defacto, if, if there is any inciting in 

there to, to, target erm, Councillor Green, it wasn’t me, I’ve shared a post.  If that post 

was beyond any sort of thing, then that would have been taken down by Facebook, 

erm, so, I wouldn’t have been able to share it, erm, it just, none of it adds up I’m afraid.  

It's, it’s erm, I actually know Councillor, err, Ben Green quite well now, and I know this 

is all feigned indignance and feigned erm stuff to have a targeted thing to try and shut 

me up, because I was highlighting a lot of things that were going wrong.  

 

EC: Okay.  Erm, I just one or two more questions about this.  I mean they’re all the same 

sort of issues which I will respond in the same way.   Councillor Jeal also says that he 

understands at least one of your group is a member of an animal rights group.  

 

TH: No idea.  

 

EC: You’ve no idea?  Okay.  

 

TH: No.  

 

EC: Erm, he also says that the information on your post was false and you don’t have any 

evidence to support it.  

 

TH: As in what information?  

 

EC: I don’t know.  He just says that the information on your post is false.  

 

TH: Erm, unless he tells me what information’s false I can’t, I can’t comment on that can I.  

 

EC: Okay.  Alright then.  Erm, and then Councillor Woolley again it may be covered in your 

previous comments, she complains erm that she says that the comment by the person 

Page 64 of 76114



Page 13 of 15 
 

who commented who she says is  was a death threat against 

Councillor Green, which you made no attempt to remove.  

 

TH: It was removed by the Police.  First and foremost, while I’m very popular on Facebook, 

I don’t always see my comments, I’ve, I’ve got a massive feed that things will go down. 

The responsibility…. 

 

EC: Yep.  

 

TH: ….is not for me to remove comments that people, I might not even see them, I might 

not see the, see the notification.  Erm, if you can yourself go and look at my Facebook 

feed and see how many different entries are made daily on my Facebook, and how 

many comments are made daily on my Facebook.  If I was to go and police every single 

comment I wouldn’t be in Council. I, I must get on average 500 to a 1000 comments a 

day…. 

 

EC: Right. 

 

TH: on Facebook. 

 

EC: Okay.  But then, you know…. 

 

TH: And I don’t….  

 

EC: I, I understand…. 

 

TH: ….to be honest I didn’t even know about the comment until the Police rang me. 

 

EC: Right okay… 

 

TH: Because when they rang me and said oh, we’re ringing you about the err Facebook 

post, I thought they were on about the one I’d reported, it was totally another thing 

where two, err, two gangs of youths had threatened to meet each other in the local fair, 

and, and bring knives.  So when he rang me and said I’m ringing you about this I went 

oh right, yeah, okay.  I said I don’t know who the two youths are but I’ve seen this post 

and that’s why I’ve reported it and he went oh no I’m talking about this one.  I said I 

don’t know what you’re on about.  And so it had been removed before I even saw it.  

The Police had gone to….. 

 

EC: Okay. 

 

TH: …..to, sorry what was his name?    was it?  

 

EC:  

 

TH: Yeah.  

 

EC: [inaudible 5:49:1] 

  

TH: So they had already gone to him and removed the post, before I even knew that it was 

one there.  

Page 65 of 76115



Page 14 of 15 
 

 

EC: But that, I mean I understand what you’re saying about your page getting lots and lots 

of comments and posts, but then it is your page and if you’re not responsible for 

removing things or seeing things that alert you like you said you were alerted about the 

erm, the, the, the gangs wanting to meet with knives who is?  Cos it’s your page. 

 

TH: Yeah, but it’s not my responsibility to go and trawl through my page all day long, so I 

can, I can show you now, or you can do it yourself, you can log on Facebook and, and 

and search my page out.  My Facebook page is there for information…. 

 

EC: Right 

 

TH: ….for people.   

 

EC: Okay. 

 

TH: You know, I, I, I physically wouldn’t be able to go and comment on every or check every 

comment and every like, it just , it just wouldn't be possible for me to do it.  Erm….. 

 

EC: So what happens….. 

 

TH: ….again, again 

 

EC: ….what happens….. 

 

TH: …again, we come down to this thing… 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: …. where Ben Green, at any point during this thing he’s told you already that the feared 

for his life, why didn’t he block me?  

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: Why did he leave his thing open and keep putting contentious remarks, contentious 

comments the, the, the erm, winding up of, of of all of our lot with this erm rainbow 

alliance comments, and erm, yous don’t care about the animals, he, he, could of incited 

us he’s, he went out he could have incited err animal rights against us.  He said the 

grou,  err, the coalition don’t care about animals.  That could have, I could quite easily 

have made the complaint about that but I didn’t….  

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….because it’s, it’s that sort of context that’s going on.  But rather than me go and say 

how dare you say that, you are inciting animal rights activists against us, I highlighted 

his, his hypocrisy.   

 

EC: Yeah. Okay.  Alright then.  Alright, thank you very much.  Erm, is that, I think we’ve 

covered everything on that complaint.   Is that everything?  Do you, yeah? 

 

TH: Yeah.  

Page 66 of 76116



Page 15 of 15 
 

TEXT IRRELEVANT TO THIS COMPLAINT HAS BEEN REMOVED 

 

EC: … is there anything else that you want to say?  Before we … 

 

TH: No, I’m sorry that you’ve had to spend time on this, it’s a vast waste of resource and 

monies.  I’m sure you’ve got far more important things to do.  Erm, you won’t get it 

again from me with, as regards Ben Green and Graham Jeal, we’ve realised they’re 

not worth our efforts, they’re not worth, and erm, we just, we’ll leave them in their own 

echo chamber because they’re not getting any erm, stuff, erm, the mistake I made was 

biting.   

 

EC: Yeah.  

 

TH: That was the mistake I made.  Everything, I stand by everything I did, but I just shouldn’t 

have bitten because I gave him a bigger voice than he would have had if I hadn’t of….. 

 

EC: Yeah. 

 

TH: ….shared his posts etc.  

 

EC: I understand.  Well listen, thank you very much.  Just bear with me one second, I’m 

going to stop the recording if I can. 

 

TH: Yep.  

 

EC: Just bear with me.  Stop recording. 

 

 

END OF RECORDING  

 

I certify that this is an accurate note of my interview with Estelle Culligan and Gill Thompson 

on Tuesday 16 July 2024. 

 

 

 

 

Signed……………………………………….  Dated……………………………………. 

 

Page 67 of 76117



1

From:
Sent: 22 July 2024 14:21
To: Tim.Harrison@SouthKesteven.gov.uk
Subject: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript
Attachments: Interview Transcript - Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf; Email Letter to Councillor 

Harrison enclosing interview transcript.pdf

Dear Councillor Harrison 
 
  
 
Please find aƩached, for your consideraƟon, a leƩer together with interview transcript. 
 
  
 
The transcript itself is password protected for security. We have obtained a mobile number from the Council's 
website ending 569. I will therefore send the password to you via SMS shortly. 
 
  
 
Should you have any queries please don't hesitate to contact me. 
 
  
 
Kind regards 
 

 

Page 68 of 76118

Gill.Thompson_32
Typewritten text
WC 10



1

From:
Sent: 06 August 2024 09:58
To: Cllr Tim Harrison
Subject: FW: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript
Attachments: Interview Transcript - Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf; Email Letter to Councillor 

Harrison enclosing interview transcript.pdf

Good morning Councillor Harrison 
 
I refer to my email below and the aƩached leƩer and transcript. 
 
I would be grateful if you could confirm your approval of the transcript as soon as possible. 
 
Many thanks 

 
-----Original Message----- 
From:   
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2024 2:21 PM 
To: Tim.Harrison@SouthKesteven.gov.uk 
Subject: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript 
 
Dear Councillor Harrison 
 
  
 
Please find aƩached, for your consideraƟon, a leƩer together with interview transcript. 
 
  
 
The transcript itself is password protected for security. We have obtained a mobile number from the Council's 
website ending 569. I will therefore send the password to you via SMS shortly. 
 
  
 
Should you have any queries please don't hesitate to contact me. 
 
  
 
Kind regards 
 

 
 

Page 69 of 76119



1

From: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Sent: 06 August 2024 14:13
To:
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview 

Transcript

This Message originated outside your organisaƟon. 
 
________________________________ 
 
Good aŌernoon ,  
                                   I have only had Ɵme for a cursory glance over all this, I am too busy. It all seems in order I am 
confident that you will have transcripted accurately. If there is any issue in the future we can always return to the 
video.  
 
Kind regards  
 
        
         Tim Harrison Councillor for Grantham St. Wulfram’s Ward 
         
 
________________________________ 
 
From: 
Sent: Tuesday, August 6, 2024 9:58:17 AM 
To: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: FW: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript  
  
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organizaƟon. Exercise cauƟon when opening aƩachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 
 
Good morning Councillor Harrison 
 
I refer to my email below and the aƩached leƩer and transcript. 
 
I would be grateful if you could confirm your approval of the transcript as soon as possible. 
 
Many thanks 

 
 
    

    |   W: 
www.wilkinchapman.co.uk 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/vfUhCRgkGhGg2WmuNhzuvLj5Y?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>    
A:    
Cartergate House, 26 Chantry Lane, Grimsby DN31 2LJ 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/q2oSCVmoMs2PGywCyiquVjI6f?domain=google.co.uk>  
  

Page 70 of 76120



1

From:
Sent: 06 August 2024 14:24
To: Cllr Tim Harrison
Subject: RE: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript

Hello Councillor Harrison 
 
  
 
Thank you for your email.  I appreciate you are very busy but we would like you to sign the transcript. I will send it to 
you via Docusign (which enables electronic signature and return) so if you could give it a read through that would be 
very much appreciated. 
 
  
 
Kind regards 
 

 
  
 
  
 
  
 
From: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk>  
Sent: Tuesday, August 6, 2024 2:13 PM 
To:  
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: (97613/248, 97613/246, 97613/243 and 97613/241) - Interview Transcript 
 
  
 
This Message originated outside your organisaƟon. 
 
________________________________ 
 
Good aŌernoon ,  
 
                                   I have only had Ɵme for a cursory glance over all this, I am too busy. It all seems in order I am 
confident that you will have transcripted accurately. If there is any issue in the future we can always return to the 
video.  
 
  
 
Kind regards  
 
  
 
        
 
         Tim Harrison Councillor for Grantham St. Wulfram’s Ward 
 

Page 71 of 76121



1

From: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Sent: 19 August 2024 15:38
To:
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Reminder: Complete with Docusign: Interview Transcript - 

Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf

This Message originated outside your organisaƟon. 
 
________________________________ 
 
Hi ,  
          I cannot sign this, I haven’t had a copy of the video to compare it, plus I really do not have the Ɵme to spend 
going through it. As you are aware I do not get paid for this Ɵme and consider it a waste of my valuable Ɵme, where I 
can actually be achieving something for the consƟtuents. 
 
Kind regards  
 
        
         Tim Harrison Councillor for Grantham St. Wulfram’s Ward 
         
 
________________________________ 
 
From: DocuSign EU System <dse@eumail.docusign.net> on behalf of  via Docusign 
<dse@eumail.docusign.net> 
Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 3:00:32 AM 
To: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: Reminder: Complete with Docusign: Interview Transcript - Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf  
  
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organizaƟon. Exercise cauƟon when opening aƩachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 
 
  
<hƩps://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=hƩps%3a%2f%2feu.docusign.net%2fMember%2fImage.aspx%3fi%3dlogo%2
6l%3dc462d196-6f77-4631-a92b-
8b1366700f56&c=E,1,T_1960nPpaFKKjl48_gzvkM8wpnnx_tnjElZ2YNwQVB69CZL3QGH9ZwLFNbXAFHp7v6Z8M2g1Ab
edg6TDrHc7ZZ9RXmSY2i0_gxDwW-B5RtMvGH_eHhdSYc,&typo=1>   
 
<hƩps://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=hƩps%3a%2f%2feu.docusign.net%2fmember%2fImages%2femail%2fdocInvi
te-white.png&c=E,1,g6myt1TDChyrRieXyyxCQP8Ki25IYVBXd5xdGxTHn-18w0goI82DtrPb_VX-cE7X-Aq7yfLHVceSD_h-
DN1YnlgKV3VsII37DTfudpaEOfHPOwD4XJS3&typo=1>  

sent you a document to review and sign.   
REVIEW DOCUMENT 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/M8bwC76YKizVR3ztBiruPELEO?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>   

Dear Councillor Harrison 
 
Please find aƩached, for electronic signature and return, interview transcript. 
 
I look forward to receiving the signed document. 

Page 72 of 76122



2

 
Kind regards 

 
 
Powered by  
 <hƩps://docucdn-a.akamaihd.net/olive/images/2.62.0/global-assets/email-templates/email-logo.png>   
Do Not Share This Email 
This email contains a secure link to Docusign. Please do not share this email, link, or access code with others. 
 
 
Alternate Signing Method 
Visit Docusign.com 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/735zC98GMCzNOoztPtwu2FnIL?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> , click 
'Access Documents', and enter the security code: 
6693CFE3BC17490B93C60B79CDBE8FC84  
 
About Docusign 
Sign documents electronically in just minutes. It's safe, secure, and legally binding. Whether you're in an office, at 
home, on-the-go -- or even across the globe -- Docusign provides a professional trusted soluƟon for Digital 
TransacƟon Management™.  
 
QuesƟons about the Document? 
If you need to modify the document or have quesƟons about the details in the document, please reach out to the 
sender by emailing them directly. 
 
Stop receiving this email 
Report this email 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/9Hb6C0gEzhkgy6ki3uku1qMLp?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  or 
read more about Declining to sign 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/zJQFCg584CqwBVqfZCYuEhiav?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  and 
Managing noƟficaƟons 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/MpkWCj254HYGOpYHxFxuNDZEc?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> . 
 
If you have trouble signing, visit "How to Sign a Document 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/jXx_Ck5B4CkXwmki0H6uZlpQ5?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> " on 
our Docusign Support Center 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/tziKClOX4C1PMg1SNIjuwviIy?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> , or 
browse our Docusign Community 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/i115Cmw84cpPMEptwSou2CeO3?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  for 
more informaƟon. 
 
 
 
Download the Docusign App 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/sL57CoY84HDPwxDHmUwurEstc?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  
 
This message was sent to you by who is using the Docusign Electronic Signature Service. If you would 
rather not receive email from this sender you may contact the sender with your request. 
 
  
 <hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/9UJ5CpgB5h9OwX9i9cwu4Q8-O?domain=southkesteven.gov.uk>  
 
 
The informaƟon contained in this e-mail along with any aƩachments may be confidenƟal, legally privileged or 
otherwise protected from disclosure. It is intended for the named individual(s) or enƟty who is/are the only 

Page 73 of 76123



3

authorised recipient(s). If this message has reached you in error please noƟfy the sender immediately and delete it 
without review. Email is not secure and may contain viruses. We make every effort to ensure email is sent without 
viruses, but cannot guarantee this and recommends recipients take appropriate precauƟons. We may monitor email 
traffic data and content in accordance with our policies and English law.  
 

Page 74 of 76124



1

From: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Sent: 20 September 2024 16:09
To:
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Reminder: Complete with Docusign: Interview Transcript - 

Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf

This Message originated outside your organisaƟon. 
 
________________________________ 
 
Your condiƟons are not acceptable to me. I am sorry. 
 
        
         Tim Harrison Councillor for Grantham St. Wulfram’s Ward 
         
 
________________________________ 
 
From: DocuSign EU System <dse@eumail.docusign.net> on behalf of  via Docusign 
<dse@eumail.docusign.net> 
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2024 2:48:12 AM 
To: Cllr Tim Harrison <Tim.Harrison@southkesteven.gov.uk> 
Subject: Reminder: Complete with Docusign: Interview Transcript - Councillor Tim Harrison.pdf  
  
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organizaƟon. Exercise cauƟon when opening aƩachments or 
clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 
 
  
<hƩps://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=hƩps%3a%2f%2feu.docusign.net%2fMember%2fImage.aspx%3fi%3dlogo%2
6l%3dc462d196-6f77-4631-a92b-8b1366700f56&c=E,1,DUoBjemiFr5QgNPofI0L1uvaxFmnYH1l_X-
RLYiys4D04NEAtBPoT3A4XVdIcpkqFfEULJprzJ1SzIhsaSRHfcCGeyWjEGGg4UkgSElkA-mQGH7pSLa6&typo=1>   
 
<hƩps://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=hƩps%3a%2f%2feu.docusign.net%2fmember%2fImages%2femail%2fdocInvi
te-white.png&c=E,1,ecNMhXtIu1d8jAzNSNh3CA2rJ0ZmKdHSFqw-
dvvzNzG5Nu3PgWtqCTwq_JUuRO35pfZ34TfzNOeCvhdXVaS5U-XkyXmqKqTZNHBQxzgT4ZkW9XN6ahfgEdLj&typo=1>  

 sent you a document to review and sign.   
REVIEW DOCUMENT 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/AfUqC76YKiz2BLvTBi0CopK2q?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>   

Dear Councillor Harrison 
 
Please find aƩached, for electronic signature and return, interview transcript. 
 
I look forward to receiving the signed document. 
 
Kind regards 

 
 
Powered by  

Page 75 of 76125



2

 <hƩps://docucdn-a.akamaihd.net/olive/images/2.62.0/global-assets/email-templates/email-logo.png>   
Do Not Share This Email 
This email contains a secure link to Docusign. Please do not share this email, link, or access code with others. 
 
 
Alternate Signing Method 
Visit Docusign.com 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/DLQ2C98GMCzAw8vTPt9Cq0cMx?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> , 
click 'Access Documents', and enter the security code: 
B6D2B27D8BAB43BEA5F0573E67EC9A5B4  
 
About Docusign 
Sign documents electronically in just minutes. It's safe, secure, and legally binding. Whether you're in an office, at 
home, on-the-go -- or even across the globe -- Docusign provides a professional trusted soluƟon for Digital 
TransacƟon Management™.  
 
QuesƟons about the Document? 
If you need to modify the document or have quesƟons about the details in the document, please reach out to the 
sender by emailing them directly. 
 
Stop receiving this email 
Report this email 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/TfMBC0gEzhkQAjKs3uYC96n1a?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  or 
read more about Declining to sign <hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/_ZQRCg584CqKz8ruZCEC4G1-
b?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  and Managing noƟficaƟons 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/91vPCj254HYDxg2sxF4CmiQvE?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> . 
 
If you have trouble signing, visit "How to Sign a Document 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/9mcCCk5B4CkAJg7s0HOCGuLEA?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> " on 
our Docusign Support Center 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/wJIfClOX4C1mYLyFNIoCzjxP8?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com> , or 
browse our Docusign Community 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/9ezwCmw84cp8QvZswSxCRzgZe?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  for 
more informaƟon. 
 
 
 
Download the Docusign App 
<hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/syUxCoY84HD5ykMUmUgCpVT2k?domain=linkprotect.cudasvc.com>  
 
This message was sent to you by  who is using the Docusign Electronic Signature Service. If you would 
rather not receive email from this sender you may contact the sender with your request. 
 
  
 <hƩps://url.uk.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/KHtlCpgB5h9qR5GF9c7CGJRLO?domain=southkesteven.gov.uk>  
 
 
The informaƟon contained in this e-mail along with any aƩachments may be confidenƟal, legally privileged or 
otherwise protected from disclosure. It is intended for the named individual(s) or enƟty who is/are the only 
authorised recipient(s). If this message has reached you in error please noƟfy the sender immediately and delete it 
without review. Email is not secure and may contain viruses. We make every effort to ensure email is sent without 
viruses, but cannot guarantee this and recommends recipients take appropriate precauƟons. We may monitor email 
traffic data and content in accordance with our policies and English law.  
 

Page 76 of 76126



Social media posts and comments published by Councillor Tim Harrison 

 

Below is a post published on social media by Councillor Tim Harrison during the 

ongoing investigation of this complaint and other Code of Conduct complaints 

relating to him and other District Councillors.  

 

 

127

Appendix C



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement from Councillor Ben Green 
 
 
I wish to formally confirm that I fully endorse the findings and conclusions detailed in 
the investigation report. The process was both thorough and impartial, ensuring that 
all relevant evidence was carefully examined. I have full confidence in the solicitor’s 
professionalism and the integrity of the investigation. 
 
The report correctly identifies significant breaches of the Code of Conduct, 
particularly regarding bullying and disrespectful behaviour, which created a hostile 
environment. The most concerning finding is that Councillor Harrison’s social media 
conduct incited a death threat against me. Despite police intervention and a request 
for the offending content to be removed, Councillor Harrison declined to act, a 
decision which aggravated an already serious situation. 
 
This incident had broader implications beyond my personal safety, directly impacting 
local governance. Two parish council meetings — at South Witham and Great 
Ponton — were cancelled or postponed due to safety concerns. The disruption 
caused to these meetings reflects how harmful conduct can undermine the 
democratic process and diminish public trust in local institutions. 
 
I recognise that reaching these conclusions required an objective and balanced 
assessment of both the facts and the applicable standards. Given the rigour of the 
investigation and the clear reasoning provided, I believe the conclusions represent a 
fair and accurate account of events, as well as a proper interpretation of the 
Council’s Code of Conduct. The finding that this behaviour brought both the office of 
Councillor and the Council into disrepute is particularly important, as it highlights the 
need for high standards in public life. 
 
While this has been a difficult matter, I hope that by addressing it fully, we can move 
forward with renewed commitment to the principles of respect and responsible 
conduct in public office. 
 

129

Appendix D



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement from Councillor Sue Woolley 
 
 
 
As I have already made known to the Monitoring Officer at South Kesteven District 
Council, I am content with the accuracy of the statement taken from me by the 
solicitor investigating the case. I place much value in the expert knowledge the 
solicitor holds and believe the conclusion that was arrived at and recorded in the 
written conclusion is a true and accurate record. 
 
I would not wish to call into question the findings of the legal expert. 
 
My wish and expectation is that this documented investigation is published in full, as 
soon as possible. 
 

131

Appendix E



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

Procedure for dealing with complaints against Councillors who are alleged 
to have breached the Councillor Code of Conduct 

 

 

 

Procedure to be followed at Formal Hearings 

 

 

1.  Preliminary Procedural Issues 

  

a) Introductions 

 

b) Election of Chairman (if Hearing Review Panel) 

 

c) Declarations of Interests  

 

d) To consider any requests for the exclusion of the Press and Public 

  

2. Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer or their representative  

  

a)  Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer or their representative to 

 present the report and call such witnesses as they consider 

 necessary, and make representations to substantiate their 

 conclusions within the report.  

 

b)  The Standards Committee/Hearing Review Panel to raise any issues 

 or clarify any matters with the Monitoring Officer or Investigating 

 Officer’s report and to question and clarify matters with any of the 

 witnesses called (if any). 

 

c)  The Subject Councillor to raise any issues or clarify any matters with 

 the Monitoring Officer or Investigating Officer’s report and to question 

 and clarify matters with any of the witnesses called (if any). 

 

3. Subject Councillor or their representative  

 

a)  The Subject Councillor to respond to the investigation report and call 

 such witnesses as they consider necessary (if any) and make 

 representations. 

 

b)  The Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer or their representative to 

 raise any issues and to question or clarify any matters with the 

 Subject Councillor and to question or clarify any matters with any of 

 the witnesses called (if any). 

 

c)  The Standards Committee/Hearing Review Panel to raise any 

 issues, question or clarify any matters with the Subject Councillor.  

 

 

 

133

Appendix F



 

4. Independent Person 

 

a)  The Independent Person to provide their views.  

 

b) The subject Councillor to seek any points of clarification from the 

 Independent Person or ask any questions. 

 

c)  The Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer or their representative to 

 seek any points of clarification from the Independent Person or ask 

 any questions. 

 

d)  The Standards Committee/Hearing Review Panel to seek any points 

 of clarification from the Independent Person or ask any questions. 

 

5. Standards Committee/Hearing Review Panel Deliberations  

 

a)  The Review Panel to retire, along with the representative from 

 Democratic Services/designated Legal Advisor to the Panel to 

 determine whether there has been a breach of the Code of 

 Conduct.  

 

b)  The Standards Committee/Review Panel to resume the Hearing to 

 report the decision: 

 

• If further information or clarification is required, this will be 

reported and a decision taken as to whether an adjournment 

or postponement is necessary 

 

• If no breach of the Code of Conduct, the Hearing ends 

 

• If there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct, the 

Hearing will continue 

 

6. Breach of the Code of Conduct  

 

a)  Monitoring Officer, Investigating Officer or their representative to 

 outline possible sanctions. 

 

b) The Subject Councillor to respond with any mitigation. 

 

 c) The Independent Person to provide their views on appropriate  

  sanctions. 

 

d) The Review Panel determines appropriate sanctions. 

 

7. End of Hearing 

 

 A Decision Notice to be produced and published to all parties within 5 working 

 days. 

134


	Agenda
	5 Councillor Code of Conduct Hearing - Councillors Ben Green, Graham Jeal and Sue Woolley v Councillor Tim Harrison
	Appendix A - Investigating Officer's Report
	Appendix B - Schedule of Evidence
	2 WC 1 - South Kesteven District Council Member Code of Conduct
	4 WC 2 - 2 - Email Green to Debbie Mewes 05.03.24 sending further information
	5 WC 3 - Email Jeal to MO 03.03.24 sending complaint
	6 WC 4 - Email Woolley to MO 03.03.24 sending complaint
	7 WC 5 - Monitoring Officer Decision Notice (Cllrs Ben Green, Graham Jeal, Sue Woolley v Cllr Tim Harrison) 21.03.24
	8 WC 6 - Signed Statement of Councillor Green V2 (G, J, W v H)
	9 WC 8 - Signed Statement of Councillor Woolley
	10 WC 9 - Interview Transcript - Councillor Tim Harrison (Green, Jeal, Woolley complaints)
	1 - Email 22.07.24 to Cllr H attaching transcript.pdf (p.1)
	2 - Email 06.08.24 to Cllr Harrison asking for him to confirm approval of transcript asap.pdf (p.2)
	3 - Email 06.08.24 from Cllr Harrison.pdf (p.3-5)
	4 - Email to Cllr H to say we would like the transcript signing and will send via Docusign.pdf (p.6-9)
	5 - Email 19.08.24 from Cllr H to say he cannot sign transcript as not received copy of recording.pdf (p.10-12)
	6 - Email 20.09.24 Email from Cllr H to say conditions not acceptable.pdf (p.13-14)

	Appendix C - Additional Evidence
	Appendix D - Statement from Councillor Ben Green
	Appendix E - Statement from Councillor Sue Woolley
	Appendix F - Directions for Hearing




